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Wednesday, March 3, 2021
--- On commencing at 9:33 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Good morning.  Just making sure I can see everything.  So just for everyone listening online, the OEB is sitting here today to hear an application by Enbridge Gas regarding its integrated resource planning proposal, and Enbridge Gas is asking that its IRP proposal be deemed reasonable and appropriate.  The case number is EB-2020-0091.  This is the third day of the hearing that is scheduled until tomorrow.

And my name is Lynne Anderson, and I'm presiding commissioner today, and along with me are my fellow commissioners, Susan Frank and Michael Janigan.

And as we have said before, we still -- we will try and accommodate if you are having technical difficulties to fit you back into the schedule.  We are trying to do that, avoiding recalling a panel.  So if you cannot get reconnected then perhaps having someone else ask your questions, something like that, would be a better approach, but we will try and accommodate whatever we can.  

I say that knowing that while I was in the breakout room with my fellow commissioners I did have a little bit of a network blip, so it seems to be going fine now, but if I do see it then I might just go off-camera, but you will see that I'm here, and obviously my fellow commissioners would do the same.

We did leave off with panel 2.  Just before we get started on that, we were just reflecting on the kinds of questions for this panel.  We were looking at the descriptions that were provided, and questions about, you know, accounting treatment or incentives or rate-basing, you know, the IRPAs, that kind of thing, can I just confirm that that is indeed something for this panel, because we didn't see those questions coming up for panel 1?

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and good morning.  You are correct, this is the panel that is charged with answering those categories of questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Great.  Thank you very much.  And were there any other preliminary matters that we needed to talk about this morning?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. STEVENS:  I have one, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes?

MR. STEVENS:  I understand from Mr. Kitchen that the witnesses have read the transcript from yesterday, and I'm informed that they would like the opportunity to speak about what their concern may be in this impression that they left on one topic.

Having heard that, I thought I would bring it up now and seek your guidance.  It struck me that if the witnesses were going to be speaking to something they have already spoken about, it might be most appropriate to do that at the outset so that if there's any follow-up questions everybody would have the opportunity.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, I think that's appropriate.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  With that I'll turn it over to the witness panel.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. – PANEL 2, resumed
Hilary Thompson,
Adam Stiers,
Malini Giridhar,

Sarah Van Der Paelt,
Suzette Mills,

Rich Szymanski; Previously Affirmed.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Good morning, Madam Chair, and thank you, Mr. Stevens and fellow commissioners.  So after reviewing the transcript last night --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry.  I'm sorry to interrupt, but I don't know who's speaking.  I can't see --


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Oh, this is Sarah Van Der Paelt.

THE REPORTER:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:   No, after reviewing the transcript last night, it became apparent from a comment on page 114 from Mr. Poch that I may have left the impression that I've changed our evidence with regards to review of the Vermont Systems Planning Committee, and I don't believe I have, so I want to clarify a few items on this just to make sure we're clear on the record.

So our position is still consistent with our evidence in Exhibit C, page 115 that we don't support the recommendation that the OEB establish a planning committee modelled on the Vermont model.  As we stated in evidence and on the transcript yesterday, the utility is accountable for the needs assessment and will own all the final decisions as the entity ultimately responsible for ensuring contract needs of customers can be met on a design day.

So to be clear, we are still of the view that the demand forecast and system planning processes rest solely with the utility, and argue that a committee like Vermont is incongruent with those obligations.

However, I have also stated that Enbridge clearly supports consultation stakeholdering, and we want to have an input of multiple parties on our potential IRPA solutions.

So what I had indicated on the transcript yesterday and what Enbridge does support is a purpose-specific working group to have discussions regarding potential IRPAs with potential solutions, appropriate avoided costs and benefits, and this group, as Mr. Poch stated nicely, would be a healthy forum where we could bring in various experts and have discussions.  It would be a process where all parties would become educated and informed on the development of IRPAs, and it may be most appropriately attested through our pilot program process.

This is aligned with our repeated assertions that, other than energy efficiency which is mature, the other IRPA solutions require some work.

So to be clear, we do not support the Vermont system, but we do support a purpose-specific working group with a focus on IRPA development and around the avoided costs and benefits, as well as potential solutions that we may not have thought of.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  I think that's helpful to know that at the outset so people can ask questions about that proposal.

And any other preliminary matters before we proceed?  The witnesses on panel 2 remain affirmed from yesterday.

Just on a timing issue, we're looking at -- at the moment the schedule is showing us going out to 6:15 tomorrow.  It's not our intention to sit that late.  We find there's diminishing returns at that late stage, but we are mindful that there are a number of parties with only small blocks of questions, and they may find that their questions are asked, and that's what we're hoping, that we will find that there is additional time so that we can finish up at a reasonable time both today and tomorrow.  So that's -- I guess that's the encouragement to all parties to make sure you're not duplicating questions that have been previously asked.

And with that, I believe Mr. Quinn --


MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, David Poch here.  Given the change of evidence or change or clarification testimony we just heard, I wonder, I just have a couple of questions that arise out of that since I didn't have an opportunity yesterday.  I wonder if I might have that permission.

MS. ANDERSON:  I'm just wondering, Mr. Poch, whether that could wait until after others have had their opportunity to cross-examine --


MR. POCH:  Sure.

MS. ANDERSON:  -- the panel, and [audio dropout] not they have been answered.

MR. POCH:  That's a good point.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MS. DEMARCO:  Madam Chair, just as a preliminary matter -- this is Lisa DeMarco -- just to inform you that we are having a number of discussions among intervenors to try and find some additional efficiencies and perhaps certain intervenors be the main ones to ask questions, so rest assured we're working hard on that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, thank you.  I appreciate that.

Okay.  Back to Mr. Quinn, who I'm not seeing on camera.  There he is.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  I went on and off as the preliminary matters were discussed, Madam Chair.  So good morning to you and to Commissioner Frank and Commissioner Janigan and to the witness panel.

Allow me to begin by saying that it is FRPO's position that the framework should prompt the utility to conduct market solicitations related to supply-side solutions.  In our discussion with panel 1 we agreed it was important to have timely market-based data in evaluating supply-side solutions as an alternative to a facilities project.

To the panel, if a system constraint or need is identified as early as six to 10 years ahead of time that that constraint would occur, would you agree with me that the framework should not allow for the screening out of a supply-side alternative based upon insufficient or outdated data?

MR. STIERS:  So maybe you can help me along a little bit, Mr. Quinn.  Are you suggesting that the screening criteria should not apply six to 10 years out?  I think it might be helpful to reiterate yesterday's testimony, where --


MR. QUINN:  That's not what I was asking, Mr. Stiers, if you're going down that path.  Maybe I should clarify.

MR. STIERS:  Sure.

MR. QUINN:  I am asking that -- and we do respect that we had discussions with panel 1 which we need not repeat -- is that we agree that timely market-based data is important in evaluating an alternative, and a constraint may be identified as early as 10 years out, and I think you would agree with me that screening out an alternative 10 years ahead of time because at the time the market-based data doesn't support the supply-side solution would be inappropriate.  Would you agree with that?

MR. STIERS:  No, actually, I do not.  I think that timely market data is essential.  We can agree on that point, absolutely, and I think our testimony and correspondence in this proceeding has reflected that, absolutely.

I think what's critical, and what I was going to refer to from yesterday's discussion was the utility's intention to continue to reflect on changes in the market and in the environment year after year.  So while let's say in year 10 -- and I'm assuming for the purposes of this discussion that we are squarely focused on consideration of market-based alternatives -- in year 10, if a market-based alternative doesn't exist or is out of the money, but we receive input or feedback from you through our stakeholdering process, or other intervenors or parties or market participants to suggest there is an opportunity that's arisen that we weren't aware of, then I think what we've said is we're committed to reconsidering the decisions that we made and reassessing that.

I don't think it would be reasonable to hold off on drawing conclusions regarding how to proceed with assessment of IRP alternatives, just in case a market alternative was to come to fruition in those years between year 10 and say year 6 or year 5, or so on.

MR. QUINN:  I know you put a lot of information in there, Mr. Stiers, but some was off the question I asked.  If I try to consolidate that, you would agree with me that screening out a supply side alternative 10 years in advance because you do not have timely data, that would be inappropriate, yes or no?

MR. STIERS:  No.  I think if you'd like me to elaborate, I can.  But I'm going to repeat what I just said.

MR. QUINN:  I don't need you to repeat what you just said because it was inconsistent, and I don't think it was necessarily helpful to the Board.  But what I did hear you say -- and I hope I have this correct -- is that there will be an ongoing assessment of supply side alternatives up until the time of final decision-making, such that alternatives are not excluded as a result of market-based data that was solicited some 10 years in advance?

MR. STIERS:  I think what we've committed to, Mr. Quinn, is that at such time that a constraint is identified, looking at all potential for IRP consideration at that time and then circling back on decisions to perhaps screen out IRP alternatives on an annual basis, and certainly when triggered by notifications from stakeholders that such a novel opportunity exists and warrants assessment and consideration.  And we would do that annually as part of our asset management plan updates.

MR. QUINN:  Binary screening out is not final.  It is a step and can come back in another iteration, that consideration of that alternative?

MR. STIERS:  We have repeatedly said on the record in the proceeding that to the extent that market conditions change or the environment changes, that we may need to reassess the decisions we made absolutely.  And certainly that the feedback we receive from parties such as yourself relating to IRP alternatives would be recorded, that our responses would be recorded, all made publicly available and potentially saved to our website to a dedicated page and that when we came forward to the Board with either an IRPA application or a facility application, either of which may not include the market-based alternative that you are potentially describing as preferential here, that we would have to answer to the decisions that we've made at that time and the Board would determine whether or not we acted prudently.

In the face of that record, that describes exactly what our thoughts are.

MR. QUINN:  I think I need to move on, and I recognize we are under time constraints so if you could assist me with that, Mr. Stiers, I would appreciate it.

Moving forward, we believe the framework should include a classified list of IRPAs, supply side and non-supply side, in a categorized fashion, like short meeting, long term bridging solutions, those types of categories.

We have some time in this proceeding trying to advance discovery on supply side alternatives.  The demand side or DSM is well understood by the Board and stakeholders due to years of applications, discovery, testing and decisions of the Board.

However, we are concerned the supply side is more of a black box.  What is the company prepared to provide the Board to assist it with its understanding and potential determinations in the resolutions of dispute on efficacy of supply-side alternatives?

MR. STIERS:  I can offer a thought here, and others may wish to add to it as well, Mr. Quinn.

I think, through the course of this proceeding, we provided feedback on various market-based alternatives, many of which you brought to the surface for consideration.  We've acknowledged throughout the proceeding that supply side solutions, specifically market-based alternatives or commercial services, are within the description of viable IRPA potential for consideration going forward.  So nothing has changed in that regard.

The one thing I am hesitant of when we get into this discussion is an attempt to establish fast definitions or fixed definitions of market-based alternatives today that should reflect all such alternatives or opportunities for, let's say, the next decade, or whatever period of time you want to say.

I don't think that's fair.  I think the Board has acknowledged already that a snapshot in time of what's available in the market is not necessarily supposed to be, or appropriate to be considered indicative of what would be available in the future.

That being said, I think we've also acknowledged that going forward, our intent is to keep a running list as a utility of the various alternatives that we've assessed and that we've gained experience with. And some of those alternatives might very well be of your own creation, Mr. Quinn.  You may point out, through the proposed stakeholdering and outreach process, opportunities that exist, and we expect that we would look at those alternatives and keep a record of what those are.  That record would be publicly available and would form what we see as the initial so-called list of potential alternatives.

MR. QUINN:  I just paused in the event that somebody had something to add, as you had offered up front.

Okay.  Moving forward, then, it is our view that the framework should delineate the scope of incentives with regard to IRPAs.

Would you agree with me that the utility has not provided any additional compensation to procure natural gas in a prudent fashion?

MR. STIERS:  I'm sorry, are you asking in relation to gas supply acquisition?

MR. QUINN:  Correct.

MR. STIERS:  And you're asking whether we have a unique incentive mechanism tied to acquisition of gas supply?

MR. QUINN:  Correct.

MR. STIERS:  I'm not aware of any such mechanism.

MR. QUINN:  Anybody else on the panel aware of such a mechanism?

MS. THOMPSON:  I'm not aware as well.

MR. QUINN:  Also, while PDO and PDCI are ultimately ratepayer costs, they represent a flow-through of costs  without additional compensation to the utility, correct?

MR. STIERS:  Again, I'm not aware of any such incentive mechanism, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Can anyone on the panel confirm there is no such incentive mechanism or compensation to the utility for the PDO or PDCI?

MS. THOMPSON:  I'm not aware as well.

MR. QUINN:  I'm hearing not aware --


MR. STIERS:  How about a subject to check, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  That would be satisfactory, but I was looking for a definitive answer, which I thought this panel could provide.

Further, it is FRPO's position that the framework should emphasize that ratepayers will not be held responsible for costs relating to emerging technologies in advance of convincing evidentiary demonstration of their efficacy.  The company is seeking acknowledgment from the Board that advanced metering infrastructure, or AMI, is an important enabler of IRP and IRP alternatives, such as demand response.  The framework should require convincing evidence of efficacy before inclusion of emerging technology in rate base.

Will you be seeking the approval for capital costs of AMI pilots to test the impact of DSM or demand response, or are you expecting widespread deployment of AMI?

MR. STIERS:  So I can offer another thought here, Mr. Quinn, and again, others might wish to add to it.  Thank you for your question.  We are not asking for any recovery of costs through this proceeding related to AMI, and I think we've articulated a number of times that we suspect that any AMI proposal specific to -- specific to whether it's broad-based deployment or targeted deployment, those decisions have yet to be made, but any such proposal would be brought forward at the time of rebasing.

MR. QUINN:  Hearing no other responses, so would you agree with me that the utilization of area measurement through a single-source feed such as a gate station allows for the analysis of the impact of initiatives at the macro level to understand the geographic impact in assessing the impact on demand?

MS. THOMPSON:  The measurement at a gate station would depend on the particular measurement in place, so whether it would be the same quality as in relation to, like, billing quality, versus a meter that would be more intended for a purpose of check measurements, and I think it's important to note that when we talk about measurement in relation to system design, we will need to consider where that measurement is located and the overarching intent of the -- or the overarching need that we've identified through the system in order to make that distinct connection.

So for example, if we are looking to address a constraint on the distribution system, measurement at a gate station would not play a role in supporting the level of precision in understanding the effectiveness of the IRPA on the demand side.

MR. QUINN:  You could, though, enhance the quality of measurement at a gate station to meet your needs, though, could you not?  I'll stop there.

MS. THOMPSON:  Looking at measurement across our system will be one of the considerations going forward, so if we do have a constraint and we need to update the form of measurement, that would be part of the considerations.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think the end of your question started to become aligned with my -- or the end of your response aligned with my question.  If you are seeking specific data for the purposes of understanding the efficacy of DSM or demand response in a single-source gate-station-fed system, you could enhance the quality of the measurement at the gate station to allow you the level of insight that you are looking for in terms of timely data for that system, correct?

MS. THOMPSON:  I think what I'm saying -- I think we are agreeing on a basis on the importance of measurement.  I think where I struggle with getting more specific is all the scenarios do require a case-by-case consideration in relation to the constraint that's been identified and also the forms of measurement that we have or don't have within our particular system, and that's the important connection.  In some cases we may have the measurement need and in other cases we may not.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess my question is, would you not be more effective economically to install one sophisticated meter at a gate station than 5,000 sophisticated meters throughout the system and aggregate that data into a number that's close to what the gate station would produce?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I may just step in here, Mr. Quinn, I think you already identified one constraint in that discussion, which is it's a single-feed sole-sourced gate station.  I think what I'm hearing Ms. Thompson suggest is there are other considerations as well.  It might be the number of step-down pressures from that gate station, the number of customers, the type of customers, whether there is a large industrial customer, where is that customer located, so it's very difficult for us to hypothesize.  Ultimately it would be our job to bring forward a prudent application that the Board can approve, and certainly these considerations would be considered.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  We're just getting into argument, so I'll just ask you, does a gate station type meter provide you with more of an opportunity to see the diversity in the compliance and a recognition of timely differences in utilization?

MS. THOMPSON:  Can you elaborate on compliance, what you mean?

MR. QUINN:  To the extent that you're doing a demand response type initiative if you are seeking to understand how well the customers are complying with what is in your program and what the effects are on the overall system, that would be seen at the macro level better than an aggregation of the micro levels?

MS. THOMPSON:  I think it essentially goes back to [audio dropout] and what Ms. Giridhar also elaborated on, and that is the level of accuracy and measurement is important for us to consider the demand within that particular system, and that as we're exploring the application of IRP within a system, it's important to have a direct connection to the constraint that we're looking to resolve, and the various form of measurement that would be required in order to do so.

So on the high end, on that more macro level it can definitely be informative, but it may not be the information that is needed to gain the level of precision in order to resolve the peak constraints.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Do you have studies to demonstrate the economic effectiveness of AMI in your territory?

MR. STIERS:  Again, I'm not aware of any studies of that nature, Mr. Quinn.  I think it's very early days for us.  We're still completing the analysis, and of course any such studies, analysis of cost-effectiveness, and ultimately a strategy in terms of deployment, whether it should be broad-based deployment or it's more effective to do a targeted deployment more of the nature I think you're kind of getting at, is something we bring forward at rebasing.

MR. QUINN:  Do you have studies from other jurisdictions that support the economic effectiveness of AMI?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I can attempt to answer that question.  I have not actually reviewed economic studies from other jurisdictions, but I note that there are other jurisdictions that are implementing AMI on their gas systems.  Subject to check, I think I've heard Fortis B.C., I've heard Énergir, and I believe I've also heard of certain U.S. gas utilities that are implementing AMI at this time or have plans to or have had approvals from their regulators to do so.

MR. STIERS:  And if I can just add, Mr. Quinn, I think a helpful reference there in terms of the ones that we're aware of is Exhibit I-Energy Probe-15.  We provided a detailed response of the AMI in other jurisdictions that we're keeping an eye on.

MR. QUINN:  Keeping an eye on, but you do not have an economic study that supports the value proposition associated with AMI from another gas -- specifically gas jurisdiction?

MR. STIERS:  I think I'd reiterate what Ms. Giridhar just said and what I also just said; I'm not aware of any such studies.

MR. QUINN:  On what basis are you seeking the Board's endorsement of AMI as an enabler?

MR. STIERS:  We described this in a number of places throughout the course of the proceeding, in our responses to interrogatories, as well as far back as in our additional evidence in October.

So from our perspective, investment in natural gas AMI has the potential to enable Enbridge to advance IRPAs as efficiently and as effectively as possible, without the potential to enable Enbridge Gas to gain a deeper understanding of the aggregated implications of investments in natural gas IRPAs on its respective systems and assets in the future, and without the potential to enable the OEB to make more informed decisions, which we see as being critical at the time when the effectiveness of IRPAs to actually avoid investment in new natural gas infrastructure expansion or reinforcement projects in Ontario remains uncertain.

MR. QUINN:  So even with this desired endorsement you have as enabler, the Board would still expect to receive an economic assessment of the value of AMI before approving it in either pilot or widespread deployment?

MR. STIERS:  Again, I think that's what we've suggested.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Mr. Shepherd, that's you next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I want to start, I think, with a couple cleanup questions, which I think are both for Mr. Stiers.

The first is yesterday, Mr. Stiers, you clarified your evidence to say that -- you'd left the impression that you were going to file a utility system plan every year, and you clarified to say no, you're not planning to do that.

Am I correct that you're still going to prepare an asset management plan every year and file it with the Board?  Or when you say no USP, you also mean no AMP?

MR. STIERS:  You are correct.  Our intent is to file an update to the asset management plan on an annual basis, all of that presupposed on the idea, Mr. Shepherd, that the Board supports this proposal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Or supports a proposal that includes that component.

MR. STIERS:  Or directs to us do so.  Then of course we would do it as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The second clarification as I heard your discussion with Mr. Quinn just now, and it occurred to me, and tell me whether this is correct that different solutions to system constraints have different lead times and they generally come within three camps.

You have the longest lead time is typically things like DSM, or demand response programs that have to take some time to get going, et cetera.   The middle range is facilities because they're a little more under your control; you can make a decision and go.  And the shortest typically is supply side alternatives, not always but typically, because they're responsive to immediate market dynamics.

Am I generally right with those types of lead times?

MR. STIERS:  I don't think the way you characterize it is necessarily off-base at all, Mr. Shepherd.  But I would add a few more thoughts, and others may wish to do so as well.

First off, obviously it's very early days.  We don't quite understand the scale and scope of each of the potential IRPA categories that have been proposed by the utility and that discussed over the course of the proceeding.

So while I think what you've described is perhaps reasonable, we of course don't have foresight to all of the various IRPAs and their natures and time frames.

The other thing I would add to that is the nature of some of the supply side alternatives also suggest to me they may not become available until the very last second.  So you may not have a decade of advance notice to take action on a commercial based service or a market-based service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My follow-up to that is -- and that was sort of -- you said it better than me, but that was sort of what I was trying to say

Am I right that integrated resource planning that includes non-pipes alternatives like DSM, but also supply side alternatives and facilities altogether, your timing of decision-making is going to naturally bias for or against certain types of choices.

If you decide early in the process as sort of you are proposing right now, that tends to bias against supply side alternatives.  If you decide very late, that tends to bias against DSM and things like that.  And I'm not saying bias in pejorative way; I'm saying it's a natural consequence of certain lead times.  Is that right?

MR. STIERS:  I wouldn't have characterized it that way.  I think that -- I think that even though we're talking about a 10-year potential time horizon for IRPA consideration generally, that constraints can arrive anywhere along that horizon, right.  And at such time those constraints arise, it's prudent always for the utility to commence planning for resolving those constraints.  And it's incumbent upon the utility to make decisions, and then subsequently for the Board to review those decisions with an eye as to whether or not the decisions are prudent and based on the best available information at the time.

So while it could theoretically be true that identification 10 years in advance of certain market-based opportunities might carry with it more uncertainty than some of the other forms of IRPAs that you've described.

I also think there are certain forms of market-based opportunities that have been discussed in the course of this proceeding, such as long-term upstream supply, that behave differently or be approached differently potentially.  So I'm not sure that we can characterize it in such a binary fashion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now back to our regularly scheduled cross-examination.

I must start I think with you, Ms. Mills, because I heard the term "energy transition planning" for the first time, I think, when I looked at your CV.  And you talked with Mr. Poch about that yesterday.  You're in a group of people that does energy transition planning, right?

MS. MILLS:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How many people are in your group?

MS. MILLS:  I'm just thinking about all the different areas, Mr. Shepherd.  I would say five to six --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. MILLS:  -- in our immediate energy transition planning group.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is there a manager or director for that group?

MS. MILLS:  Yes, there is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who is that?

MS. MILLS:  Currently today it is Ms. Oliver Glassford.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then that position reports up through Ms. Van Der Paelt; is that right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  No, it reports to me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Directly to you?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Now, that group prepares 

-- among the things you do, as I understand it, you prepare the Enbridge communications, such as the ones talked about yesterday, the LinkedIn one, the bill insert, things like that, is that right?  Your group does that?

MS. MILLS:  The energy transition planning group?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe that this group is charged with managing the communications that go to the bill or the ones that you referenced.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's done in marketing, which is Ms. Van Der Paelt?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  The marketing team develops the communications, but the -- depending on who has accountability for that form of communication, I think that team would presumably make the decision.  Ms. Van Der Paelt --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  Excellent.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  -- would you add to that, or...

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, so the marketing group is the group that actually works with various business units when they identify they have a need to communicate something, and they do what I say, that technical things with the agency and making sure that, you know, colours are right and everything else and getting things in queue, versus the subject-matter experts bringing the message forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're the group that has the writers.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, and we're the group who has the relationship with our agency.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, back to you, Ms. Mills.  Is there an actual energy transition plan?  The group is energy transition planning.  Is there a plan?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is not a plan at this point that has been approved by management.  We are at this point -- well, if I might provide some background to this, Mr. Shepherd.  Adapting to energy transition was one of the strategic objectives that was adopted by Enbridge across all business units, I believe it was last year or probably very late the year before.  And we felt it was important to solidify the implementation of that priority by creating a dedicated group that would focus on energy transition planning.  And the items that we've identified at this point are to port, obviously, the carbon compliance work into this group, because it is a big driver of energy transitions.  We are also managing the communications on the ESG front as -- well, I guess the E of the ESG front back to the corporate group.  As you realize, we have got corporate initiatives or announcements now on ESG.

IRP is another area that logically appears to fit in this group, and I think that would be sort of the majority of the accountabilities at this point for this group, and I expect it will evolve over time.  From my perspective, the IRP framework, I think I would like this group to ensure that the framework and the process implications from it are well understood by the company and this group, as the experts, you know, can play a role in ensuring that those processes work the way they are intended to.

So it's an evolving area, and I haven't quite decided what else this team will do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I can just stop you there, because I have a limited amount of time, and what I was actually asking about is, is there a document in existence, even if it hasn't been approved yet, is there a document in existence that is a plan for the energy transition?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  There is not a document in existence at this point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is going to be at some point?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  One thing I can mention to you, Mr. Shepherd, is -- and I think I said this on the stand yesterday -- one of the things this group is doing is they are embarking on a scenario-planning analysis that will inform the rebasing application and, you know, could in the future be the basis of a document, but there is no plan at this point to create or produce a document.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we're going to hear on -- and am I right that in your rebasing application it's anticipated that we're going to hear a lot about the energy transition and how Enbridge is responding to a lower carbon future; is that right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I expect that you will hear about it in the rebasing application.  Realistically speaking, it needs to cover a five-year period out to 2028, so it's reasonable to expect that the rebasing application will address this issue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me ask you a couple questions about -- you're vice-president, business development and regulatory, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your department doesn't include economic forecasting, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it doesn't include load forecasting or demand forecasting or customer numbers forecasting, any of that stuff.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't include any gas supply planning?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it doesn't include facilities planning.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does it include anything do with the renewable natural gas in issue?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, the business development team has accountability for it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's your project?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's a single project, but, yes, we are working on a number of projects where potential customers are interested in injecting natural gas into our system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  What about the hydrogen pilot?  Is that in your bailiwick or is that somebody else's?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  The business development aspect of it is in my area of responsibility, but as you can imagine, hydrogen is a complex and new and evolving issue, has impacts, you know, specifically with engineering and operations and other groups as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, but somebody has to have the lead on that pilot, right?  Is that you?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is DSM planning in your group?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  Ms. Van Der Paelt has accountability.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And she reports to you.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  And IRP planning, of course, is in your group, right?  That's why you're here.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then energy transition planning, is energy transition planning different from IRP planning?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would say IRP -- at this point they're very, very, very closely aligned, but in the future they obviously would be more -- other aspects, I think that would be in energy transition planning, would be monitoring and understanding of climate policies as they evolve, both federally, provincially, all of that is in this area as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you talked yesterday about not including the 170-dollar price of carbon in your planning until it's been legislated.  And I understand why you're doing that for -- well, in the AMP, for example.  I get that.  I don't agree, but I get it.  But I would assume -- and tell me whether this is right -- that internally you are doing a scenario analysis based on 170 and you're probably doing a scenario analysis based on 500.  Am I right that you have a bunch of futures that you're looking at?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  The scenario planning exercise, I don't -- I'm not sufficiently close to it to understand all of the assumptions, but, yes, at the 170 dollars per tonne it's one of the scenarios.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is one of the witnesses here the one responsible for the scenarios?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who is that?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, the accountability rests with the manager of the group, Mr. Oliver Glassford.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  All right.  Now, still following along this notion that -- you talked yesterday about different energy transition futures, right, and the uncertainty associated with how are things going to be solved?  Is it going to be all electrification, is gas going to be gone?  Is gas -- is there going to be carbon capture instead?  All these various choices, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Enbridge has preferences, obviously.  Indeed, you've pitched some of those preferences to the public and to government, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, and Enbridge believes that there are certain energy transition scenarios that allow Enbridge to put its assets to good use through the energy transition, and there are some areas where Enbridge believes it has competencies.  Offshore wind is something, for example, that another division Enbridge is actively pursuing in Europe where the market is.

So, yes, Enbridge is interested broadly in energy transition and trying to understand where its current assets and competencies and future growths desires best fit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this question is going to sound like it's not relevant, but it is in a second.  Do you think -- and I don't mean you, Enbridge, I mean you, Ms. Giridhar -- think that in 2030 most people will be choosing gasoline-power cars over electric vehicles?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I certainly expect more penetration of electric vehicles in 2030.  If you're asking me personally, I probably would not choose a gasoline-powered car in 2030.  I expect my next car will probably have some kind of hybrid capability.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask the question, we just saw an announcement, what, a day or two ago from Volvo that they won't sell anything that's not electric by 2025, and by 2030 they won't sell anything that has any combustion.  Did you see that?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Not necessarily the Volvo, but I certainly saw some of the American -- I think maybe GM, but there's a number of car companies in the process of making such pronouncements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I looked at that and I thought these are companies in the business of selling internal combustion engines on wheels, and they're still allowed to sell them today in most places.  And yet they already have made decisions that 10 years from now, they are not going to do that any more.

I'm trying to understand why Enbridge is not doing the same thing.  You seem to be taking a much slower approach to this, and you're still putting stuff in the ground that's going to be around for 40 years.  And I'm trying to understand why your situation is different from the car companies.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think we could probably spend a bit of time here, Mr. Shepherd, and I don't know whether you want me to, about the differences between a consumable like a car and the role it plays in the transportation sector versus the energy to a person's home, and what it takes, the energy infrastructure, what it takes to deliver that kind of energy.

So I would suggest in this energy transition, different industries have different paces at which it can be accomplished.  And there are certainly, as I mentioned yesterday, significant technological breakthroughs that need to occur that would provide more certainty in terms of which direction that energy transition would occur.

If I may, I just want to point out a couple things about the competitiveness, the resilience, and what we offer our customers through our natural gas infrastructure, because I think that's relevant to the question.

So do I have a couple minutes to talk to that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  When we think about the natural gas infrastructure in Ontario, I think I mentioned that the Natural Gas Handbook published by the OEB says that our cost to serve natural gas to customers is 5 billion dollars in 2019.  So that was 30 percent of Ontario's energy to 3.8 million customers, and I'd say approximately a billion and a half of that was the commodity costs.

So if you assume three and a half billion was spent in terms of energy infrastructure to deliver 30 percent of Ontario's energy, that amounts to approximately 75 dollars per customer per month.  Given the resiliency of natural gas, it is not affected by ice storms or any kind of above ground weather event, given that it currently delivers three times peak capacity of electrical infrastructure, and given it does so at between a third or less of the cost, I do think energy transition in the energy sector in Ontario will take a significant amount of time.

And in that same period of time, we could have innovations in terms of low-carbon fuels.  Certainly the NRCan paper seems to think there will be.

So when we look at all of those fundamentals, our view is that our natural gas infrastructure is in good shape.  And we are certainly not sitting still.  We want to evolve, we want to monitor technology, and we want to participate and come up with an IRP proposal that we believe adequately addresses the energy transition and the change that we know is coming.

We are not certainly thinking natural gas use in 2050 will be exactly the same as it is today, but we think our infrastructure is well poised for that future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You in fact think that gas throughput will increase in the next 10 years, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That was the basis of the 2021 demand forecast based on what we know today, and I think I've said numerous times that as additional drivers come into play, our demand forecasting will be updated for it, including as I mentioned the scenario planning analysis that we are embarking on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're still planning to add -- what is the number?  I think in the next five years, it's 6 and a half billion dollars of rate base?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Gross depreciation, I think, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your depreciation in that period is about 3 million?  I'm in the ballpark, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Subject to check, approximately 6 million a year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said -- and you may want to turn this up or you may not have to.  At page 156 of the transcript yesterday, you talked -- you referred to the declining environmental footprint of natural gas.

I looked at that and I said what declining environmental footprint.  Can you help us with that?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That, I believe, was in reference to the initiatives we are considering at this time.  So perhaps I spoke a little loosely.  I should have said declining environmental footprint of infrastructure and that is recognizing over time, the product we deliver through our pipelines will be a lower carbon -- have a lower carbon footprint than the natural gas that goes through today, talking to RNG hydrogen.

The other thing is I do think we will look for opportunities to have more energy efficiency outcomes for our customers, whether that's through energy efficiency programming or looking at hybrid solutions, much like the transportation sector is that you just mentioned, looking at -- I think we mentioned natural gas heat pumps or the ability to pair natural gas infrastructure with other non-emitting or low carbon solutions, renewables for example, electric renewables.

Can we pair natural gas solutions MCHB unit with solar panels and battery storage.  These are some of the pilots we're working on.  And we do think with increasing carbon prices, some of these will be deployed.  So the peak daily requirements may remain pretty much the same or growing, but we do expect that they will be a lower environmental footprint over time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is not something you've done yet, right?   These are not -- to date, you haven't reduced the environmental footprint of natural gas yet?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're planning to.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The current things you have in mind, like RNG and hydrogen, they are not going to have a material impact on the environmental footprint of natural gas in the next 10 years, are they?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think -- obviously, these are strategies and will evolve.  But I understand that when experts who are looking at hydrogen, are looking at this, they are seeing a ramp up out to 2030 and significant uptake after that.

I would say in the next five years, I would agree with you.  There's probably not a lot that will happen in terms of hydrogen and RNG while the industry begins to explore these solutions, and innovation and evolution continues.

The one other thing I didn't mention, Mr. Shepherd, is also our belief in CNG and hydrogen for transportation.  Certainly for the heavy duty sector, transit, these are all things as well that we can play a role in through our natural gas infrastructure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't need a distribution system like you have now if it's for transportation, do you?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Well, for CNG, CNG works off the natural gas infrastructure, and our view on hydrogen is the power to gas facilities are best situated where you have access to low cost electricity and storage and natural gas pipeline infrastructure.

That is the premise, I believe, of many of the economies that are looking at hydrogen, the pairing of natural gas and electric infrastructure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I have two other areas of questions and I'm running a little long, but not too bad.  The first is stranded assets.  And I want to just ask the straightforward question.

Right now when you build something, who has the risk that those assets will be stranded?  Is it the ratepayers or the shareholders?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would not be able to address that from a legal or a precedent perspective.  I would say our rate-making process and the tools we have give us the opportunity to assess the stress through depreciation studies, and make adjustments over time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you -- when a leave to construct is approved, correct me if I'm wrong, EGI assumes that you will be able to recover the cost of that project for the entire life of the asset.  You assume that at the beginning, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in fact, your financial statements don't have any risks associated with stranded assets, do they?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm not aware that they do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So am I -- of the various pathways to energy transition, some of them include lots of natural gas and some of them include very little.  Is that fair?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's possible, yes, as I said, based on how the technological breakthroughs occur.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you're right, we're good, but if you're wrong, it's correct, am I not, that -- I'm correct, am I not, that the customers end up picking the tab, not the shareholders?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mr. Shepherd, I think what I was trying to say a little earlier in our conversation is basically, you know, it is our job to ensure that we can offer a value proposition for our customers that they can accept.  That's, you know, that's something that we have do in our business practices and be prudent about it, and I think what I suggested to you is that the resiliency and the benefits of the system and its evolution over the next several decades, we believe, will keep that infrastructure used and useful.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that, and in fact you're arguing in favour of that, and as you said fairly yesterday, that you want it to be a rational discussion about the choices, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's one point of view, and there is another point of view, that gas will be gone, right?  You may not agree, but certainly there are people who believe that, true?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I agree, there are people that believe that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if they're right and you're wrong, your shareholders don't pick up that tab, do they, the ratepayers do?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That would be the premise in our regulatory framework, and certainly our rates of return reflect that assumption.  They're a low-risk business and patient capital, and that is the value proposition to our investors and the basis of our financial liability.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to move to my last 
area --


MS. ANDERSON:  And Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Shepherd, you are at your time, so I just hope this will be a quick one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I believe it will be.  What I want to confirm is that your proposal is that you want this Board to give you the authority to put assets that are from a competitive market into your regulated rate base.  Is that right?  Like, for example, geothermal systems or air-source heat pumps or building automation systems, anything that ends up being an IRPA, you want this Board to give you authority, even though those are in competitive markets, to put those in your regulated rate base; is that right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes.  I should also add, Mr. Shepherd, that the proposal is that we would procure this from the marketplace to the extent that it is feasible, so that would be the first test:  Can the competitive market provide the service?  In which case it's the procurement cost of that service that would go into rate base.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if, for example, if you decide that an IRPA is geothermal in a new town, let's say, and you've got 5,000 homes and you put geothermal in all of them, you'll get the private sector to actually install those, but the cost will go in your rate base as if it were a monopoly service, yes?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  We haven't actually landed on what exact form that could take, so I think, depending on what the private sector comes back with, if the private sector was able to offer a service where they would take care of all aspects of the IRPA but only wanted an incentive in order to make the adoption happen, that could be one scenario in which case incentives go in.

If the most cost-effective solution for ratepayers was one where we procured it and put it in rate base but also put the revenues in rate base, then that could be a solution.

We are certainly -- I don't think we are clear, given the level of definition around these IRPAs and how they might meet our facility need, as to what that treatment is.  Our commitment is that we will look to the market first and only step in to facilitate the market where we believe we can make it more cost-effective for our customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's true that you're asking the Board to agree to like for like, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mm-hmm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you avoid a 50-million-dollar-bill facility by procuring geothermal in the marketplace, you expect to be inputting 50 million dollars into rate base, yes?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  We expect to put the net procurement costs of the IRPA into rate base.  So if the geothermal assets cost 50 million dollars but the rates for those geothermal services, which would not be regulated, recovered, you know, 20 million of them, and the best solution for our ratepayers is that we own and operate those and also charge the revenues, then, yes, those dollars would go in.

However, the best solution for ratepayers is that we provide an incentive to some other market operator who would, you know, own, operate, and recover the revenues from the customer, then it would be the net of those two numbers.

So we don't -- our commitment is to ensure that whatever solution we pick is the most cost-effective solution or the IRP solution relative to facilities, because --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Again in that example, if you -- did I hear you say that if you own the assets that the rates you charge those customers that have those -- are using those assets would not be regulated?  How would they be set?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  It would be set to recover the cost of the asset, and to the extent that rate is able to incent the adoption we are seeking, that would be it.  If those rates do not incent customer adoption, then there would need to be some kind of incentive in order to create that adoption.

We are not requiring the OEB to set rates for geothermal service within regulation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only things that you're proposing to put into rate base right now -- tell me whether this is right -- is the incentive component of IRPAs?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  If there is a competitive market for an IRPA and it needs an incentive, then, yes, that is the likely outcome.  If there is not a competitive market and the company needs to either own or operate or facilitate or participate in that market in any sense, then it would be whatever it takes to get the IRPA to be adopted.

So I guess what I'm trying to say, it's a spectrum.  At one end it could be just an incentive; at the other end it could be the cost to offer the IRPA to the marketplace if there are no other players and we determine that it is the most cost-effective solution.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in that case then the rates would have to be regulated, right?  You can't have something in rate base and then you have complete freedom to charge whatever you like?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think the ability to charge what we can is an offset to the impact of the IRPA in the gas rates paid by customers.  That is how we see it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I apologize for going long, but those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  We can clear the screen.

Now, I know OSEA is up next, and I saw you here, and I apologize.  I'm going to have to get you to pronounce your name for me.

MS. JACKIW: That's okay.  It's Raya Jackiw.

MS. ANDERSON:  Jackiw.  Okay.  Great.  Thank you very much.  And are you set to go?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Jackiw:

MS. JACKIW:  Yes.  Thank you.  So good morning.  Raya Jackiw on behalf of the Ontario Sustainable Energy Association, or OSEA.  Can everybody hear me okay?  Great.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKERS:  Yes, yes.

MS. JACKIW:  Thank you in advance for your time this morning.  I just have a few questions for the witness panel related to advanced metering infrastructure, demand response, and interruptible rates.  So I'll start out with AMI.

We know Enbridge is seeking acknowledgment from the Board that AMI is an important enabler or IRP.  Enbridge indicated that it would leave it to the Board to decide the extent to which the IRPA framework deals with AMI, and Enbridge has also indicated previously and again this morning that it expects any AMI-related proposal would be put forward by Enbridge at the time of rebasing.

So based on the discussion at the technical conference, my understanding is that when you say Enbridge's proposal would be put forward at the time of rebasing, that refers to the 2024 rebasing proceeding; is that correct?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MS. JACKIW:  Thank you.  And also based on discussion at the technical conference, my understanding is that Enbridge already has a team looking at AMI deployment; is that correct?

MR. STIERS:  Again, I would preface by saying we initiated that work, and we have a couple of individuals I'm aware of working on -- as we discussed with Mr. Quinn this morning, paying attention to what's happening in other jurisdictions and trying to understand the nature of the metering that would need to go into place, and its status with regard to being reviewed by Measurement Canada, and then also consideration of broad-base versus targeted deployment, but again, very early at this stage.

MS. JACKIW:  Thank you.  Ms. Allman, if you can pull up Enbridge's responses to IR 4, specifically the response to questions A and B.

In Enbridge's response to IR 4, there is a reference to Enbridge's additional evidence, and the additional evidence states that Enbridge will continue to assess feasibility of AMI implementation and Enbridge may be in a position to advance an AMI-specific application and viable rollout strategy to the Board as early as 2022, so next year.  Has that timing changed then, if you're looking to the 2024 rebasing?

MR. STIERS:  Not necessarily, and although we're talking 2024 rebasing, the timelines are actually close.  We will be working on writing evidence for a 2024 rebasing within this year actually, we would probably kick it off.

So I would say I don't see them as being dissimilar in terms of the time frames there.  What's contemplated is certainly that we would bring this forward at rebasing.

MS. JACKIW:  Thank you.  And other than acknowledgment from the Board that AMI is an enabler of IRP, does Enbridge require anything else from the Board to be in a position to start to roll out that strategy by next year?

MR. STIERS:  No, not that I'm aware of.

MS. JACKIW:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to move on to some questions about demand response.  Our understanding is Enbridge's IR responses is that Enbridge is monitoring DR programs in other jurisdiction and is in contact with several DR program managers in the US.  At the technical conference, Enbridge stated that it has no plans to report back to formally on DR program monitoring, and that if Enbridge were to go forward with a DR pilot, Enbridge would bring forward lessons from those other jurisdictions.  And at the presentation day, I believe Enbridge indicated if the IRP framework is approved, it expects to advance proposals for two IRP pilot projects in 2021, so this year.

My first question, that Enbridge is prepared to advance proposals for two IRP pilots in 2021 if the framework is approved suggests that you might have a sense of what the pilots would be.  Do you have a sense of what the proposed pilot projects would be if the framework is approved?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We have suggested in evidence two possibilities, but we have left them as literally possibilities.  So we suggested in one DR would be a possible, and I think the other one -- you know, it could be low-carbon technology, it could be -- what we're hearing from the feedback by technical conference is a desire to see a robust type of pilot.

So we would be seeking input from stakeholders on what is a good pilot project that will achieve the objectives that everybody is seeking.

No decisions have been made, but we think DR might be something, if the group thinks it's a viable alternative we should be looking into, because the understanding how that will work and whether it will achieve the desired goals, there's lots of questions around that at this time.

MS. JACKIW:  Thank you.  If one of the pilot projects ends up being a DR project, will Enbridge commit to preparing or commissioning a report on Enbridge's review of DR pilots in other jurisdiction, so the Board can understand how that monitoring has informed the pilot?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I won't say a report per se.  But we would, as part of our pilot proposal, say how we've been informed by best practices in other areas and what we've learned.  That sort of analysis is what we'll need to go into determining where is it best appropriate to put a pilot, what's the size, is this a good subject matter for pilot.  So I anticipate all that work would need to be done.

MS. JACKIW:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'll move on to my last set of questions, which relate to interruptible  rates.

From the evidence and IR responses, we understand Enbridge has not completed an analysis of customer response based on the difference between firm and interruptible rates; is that correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I would say that to my knowledge, that's correct.

MS. JACKIW:  Thank you.  We also understand from the responses to undertakings that Enbridge's view is that the price differential between firm and interruptible rates is not the primary driver for customer preference for firm services; is that correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MS. JACKIW:  Thank you.  Given that Enbridge has not completed an analysis, on what basis is Enbridge asserting that the price differential is not the primary driver for customer preference for firm services?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I can offer a response to -- and maybe, Ms. Van Der Paelt, you can join in, or Mr. Stiers.

So my response here is just at a higher level, based on leading the regulatory team and having worked on the regulatory team over several years as well.

Over time, interruptible services have become less attractive to the customers who used to take them.  There was a point in the past where based on natural gas prices and the availability of fuel oil or alternative to natural gas for process heat, it was acceptable for customers to have those kinds of arrangements for standby fuels.

I think over time, the environmental implications of keeping some of those standby fuels may have become quite onerous and frankly, I think experience has shown these customers would much rather produce widgets, or whatever else it is doing with natural gas, than pay for or receive the benefit of an uninterruptible rate.

I was speaking mostly from the experience of the legacy Enbridge or the Enbridge rate zone.  Ms. Van Der Paelt, would you like to add something to the Union rate zone?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Thank you, Ms. Giridhar.  I would say the experience I have has primarily been with contract customers in the legacy Union Gas area.  It's very similar to what Ms. Giridhar just mentioned in that the complexities and requirements, both environmentally and just having all the equipment to manage two fuel sources, has become onerous.  People look to operate businesses and not necessarily switch fuels back and forth.

What we saw over time is that people felt either they could not access their historical fuel, because at the time they are interrupted, they do go on to an alternate fuel, some type of alternate energy.  So the sources they were using were no longer available or not allowed, or alternatively it required running two sets of equipment and started becoming too expensive to manage two sets of equipment on site in order to do that.

So we saw a trend in customers requesting to move from historically interruptible service to firm service, and that's what led to the comment you see in evidence.

MS. JACKIW:  So the comment the price differential is not the primary driver is based on direct feedback from customers?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct, and can also be -- it actually generated a requirement for a substantial infrastructure.  Our greenhouse growers were a primary market where we were having a high saturation of interruptible services that trended significantly toward farm service.

MS. JACKIW:  Got it, thank you.  Last question:  Does Enbridge intend to monitor changes in customer preference for firm and interruptible services in the future to see customer preference changes?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  What we're talking about now is rate design, which is something that would be part of our rebasing application.  And historically, when we look at our rebasing applications, we look at what would make sense for rates as we try to amalgamate the two companies, what is the right balance.

So any differences in rate design or changes proposed would come forward as part of that application and, I believe, customer consultation in some format.

I am not up-to-date on what is the requirements, but we always do typically support our applications with that consultation.

MS. JACKIW:  Thank you all again for your time.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Ms. Jackiw.  We will take the morning break as was scheduled, except we will come back at 10 after 11.
--- Recess taken at 10:52 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:14 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Looks like I've got the panel back, and next up was LIEN, and I believe it's Ms. Vallani?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Vallani:

MS. VALLANI:  Hi, this is Ms. Vallani.

MS. ANDERSON:  And you're ready to begin?

MS. VALLANI:  Yes, I am.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. VALLANI:  Thanks.  This is Madiha Vallani on behalf of LIEN.  I also go by Maddie.  Thank you so much for your time this morning to the panel and to the OEB.  LIEN only has a few follow-up questions relating to pilot projects and monitoring and reporting for IRP planning.

The first set of my questions pertains to the pilot projects.  Ms. Allman, if I can have you pull up Enbridge's interlocutory responses at Staff 12, page 2.  Thank you.  

Enbridge responds here that following the completion of any IRP pilot projects Enbridge intends to document and share key learnings internally and through reporting to the Board and stakeholders at a minimum through an annual monitoring and reporting process.

At the presentation day I understand based on the discussion that the pilots would be initially informed by ongoing stakeholder input, described in component 1 of Enbridge's stakeholder outreach strategy and that the company is also going to be conducting consultation on IRP pilot projects throughout 2021.

My question pertains to the sharing of these key learnings.  Does Enbridge intend to report on key learnings frequently or will this most likely be annually as Enbridge proposes, and might there be situations where Enbridge expects to report more frequently?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Thank you for your question.  I would say we will expect to report in the cadence that is appropriate for the pilot.  So it might be more frequently than annually, but I would say annual would be a minimum as we're learning.

What we've tried to communicate through the technical conference as well is that, you know, we're not -- we can start on the pilots when we have this guidance from the Board as listed here, and then we're not waiting for, you know, four years of pilot activity before we start proceeding with further IRPA work, so that constant communication of what's happening in the pilots we believe will be critical to helping us inform, you know, the next steps to keep this IRPA process moving forward.

So as we scope those pilots and determine what we're trying to measure, you know, what is important to see, you know, what sort of evidence are we looking for that things are moving, barriers that we're seeing, how we're addressing them, I think we could report on those as is appropriate for that pilot and the right cadence to inform our processes in a timely manner.

MS. VALLANI:  Thank you.  That's very helpful.  And does Enbridge intend to capture progress for IRPs that are specific to residential and low-income consumers with this proposed at minimum annual monitoring and reporting process?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So if it is a residential program or directed to the residential program without knowing what IRPs are settled on, we would report on that, and if we are seeing barriers or differences specifically with the low-income sector that need to be addressed, we would report on that also.

MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  The next set of questions from LIEN pertains to monitoring and reporting for IRP planning.  If you could please pull up Staff 26, page 2 of 2 of Enbridge's responses.  The PDF is page 91 if that is helpful.  Thank you.

So here Enbridge responds, saying that it has not proposed any metrics for IRP planning and the company is intending to implement the optimal solution for its customers, based on the screening criteria and economic evaluation proposed.

Specifically for IRPs implemented, there is a proposed monitoring and reporting process template filed as part of Enbridge's additional evidence at Exhibit B.

I understand that Enbridge has not proposed metrics for IRP planning at the moment, but does -- because Enbridge thinks that metrics are not required.  However, can Enbridge foresee using metrics in the future?

MR. STIERS:  I don't think at this stage given the proposal we currently have, Ms. Vallani, that we see metrics as adding a lot of value.  I think by setting out the guiding principles and objective binary screening criteria and a two-stage evaluation process, our hope is that we're able to implement in the Board's eyes the optimal solution for customers based on these criteria and these principles, and so we don't necessarily see how adding specific metrics today is going to add value, but we would certainly be willing to receive feedback from others and to consider that feedback in the future, absolutely.

MS. VALLANI:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I suppose I'm just trying to understand how progress relating to low-income and residential consumers fits into Enbridge's monitoring and evaluation framework, and I wonder if you can offer any comments about this?

MR. STIERS:  Sorry, I don't think I'm best suited on the panel to necessarily offer that.  I will start by saying I think we're open to hearing what yours and other stakeholders' thoughts are in this regard, and that can happen today or it can happen as part of the overall stakeholdering strategy and process that we've put forward.  We certainly see this as an opportunity to establish a framework that's fixed in the concept of continuous improvement and is somewhat iterative in nature, but when it comes to anything more specific with regard to low-income customers, I think perhaps Ms. Van Der Paelt or Ms. Mills might be better suited to provide you further details or thoughts.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Thank you, Mr. Stiers.  So where I think you'll see the reporting -- and you're talking now not in a pilot, just to be clear, right?  We're talking about in this IRP.  So I'm referring to bullet A here on the screen.

So we state that in the IRP report we may propose a plan to address the under-performance, so in that report we would have to explain why it's under-performing or what is the barrier that is the problem or what is not happening, so if -- again, if the IRPA was specific to, you know, a barrier in the residential market or an adoption rate or some challenge that we're seeing, whether it be low-income or residential, the reason for that under-performance would be identified in that report, and then that would be filed, and we would be having discussions around, you know, how do you resolve those.

MS. VALLANI:  Thank you very much.  Those are all my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you very much, Ms. Vallani.

So I see next on our list -- I'm scanning quickly -- APPrO.  So is that Mr. Vellone?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Vellone:

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Yes, it is.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, witnesses.  My name is John Vellone, counsel for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.  I should check quickly that all the technology is working.  Everyone can see and hear me fine?  Yes.  Mr. Stiers shaking his head.  Would you agree with me that natural gas-fired power generators are among Enbridge's largest customers?

MR. STIERS:  Yes, I think that's fair.

MR. VELLONE:  And that these generators play an important role as an interface between Ontario's natural gas and electricity systems to provide Ontario with clean, safe, reliable, and secure source of electricity supply?

MR. STIERS:  Again, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Giridhar, I wanted to start first with an exchange you had yesterday with Mr. Elson regarding certain municipal council resolutions seeking to phase out natural gas-fired electricity generation in Ontario.  Do you recall that exchange?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I do.

MR. VELLONE:  And I don't want to get into the details of the exchange.  It went on for pages.  But I believe that the exchange concluded with an agreement by Enbridge to grant undertaking J2.7, which is an agreement where Enbridge would go back and review their AMP to identify the total cost of the projects that would no longer be necessary without the demand from gas-fired electricity generation.  Do you recall that?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I do.

MR. VELLONE:  Given this information has now been entered onto the evidentiary record in this proceeding, I believe it is also important to get additional facts on the record relating to just how likely the speculative scenario might actually be.

In this regard, Ms. Giridhar, I am wondering if you are willing to accept a second undertaking, and that would be to file with the OEB the IESO's most recent annual planning outlook for 2020, released in January of this year.  And if you're willing to include in that undertaking response a discussion about how this information relates to or otherwise supports Enbridge's forecasted demand from natural gas-fired electricity generation, and how this information may impact the likelihood of this speculative scenario proposed by my friend Mr. Elson in respect of undertaking J2.7?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, we can provide that response to that undertaking, including the filing of the annual planning outlook of the IESO.

MR. MILLAR:  It's J3.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  TO FILE THE IESO'S MOST RECENT ANNUAL PLANNING OUTLOOK FOR 2020; TO DISCUSS HOW THIS INFORMATION RELATES TO OR OTHERWISE SUPPORTS ENBRIDGE'S FORECASTED DEMAND FROM NATURAL GAS-FIRED ELECTRICITY GENERATION, AND HOW THIS INFORMATION MAY IMPACT THE LIKELIHOOD OF THIS SPECULATIVE SCENARIO PROPOSED BY MR. ELSON IN RESPECT OF UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  This exchange that occurred yesterday focused on what is perhaps an extreme example of what potential IRPAs may mean to different parties in this proceeding.  And it serves to draw into sharp focus certain fundamental equity issues that may arise with different IRPAs that are of particular concern to APPrO and its members.

Would you agree with me if I were to say the equity issues that may arise in respect of a particular IRPA may differ fundamentally, or be similar to those that we dealt with in the past when considering those issues with respect to tradition pipeline solutions?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm sorry, I don't know if I grasped every aspect of that question.  Maybe I can repeat my understanding of it.

You're asking me to opine on whether the equity issues raised by the consideration of these IRPAs might mimic the equity issues that would be raised in the consideration of the facilities?

MR. VELLONE:  Let me make this simple.  I think IRPAs may raise equity issues; you would agree with that.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. VELLONE:  And they may be the same as or fundamentally different from the equity issues that we are normally used to dealing with...


MS. GIRIDHAR:  Sorry, you're fading out.  If you can speak a little louder?

MR. VELLONE:  Those equity issues may be the same as or different from the issues we're used to dealing with with the traditional pipeline solution?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I can agree with that.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  I want to focus on two key equity issues today.  The first may arise where certain Enbridge Gas customers have very specific technical requirements as it relates to delivery, security, quality, or safety of supply.  And the concern is of course some IRPAs may not meet all of those technical requirements.

APPrO explored this concern in APPrO 3, and Enbridge responded exactly as one might hope, which is you wouldn't consider an IRPA that compromises the reliability or safety of your systems outright.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. VELLONE:  As we're seeing through this process, other parties themselves may want to propose different IRPA alternatives than those Enbridge itself considers.  Given this, do you think it would be appropriate for the OEB, when approving an IRP framework, to be clear about the types of evidence they may require as it relates to the impact of a potential IRP alternative on, for example, reliability and quality of service?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  We would certainly, in our written responses to suggestions of alternative IRPAs, focus on the reliability and quality of service implications of these IRPAs.  So we do think there will be a record of these considerations that would be available to any party, and of course the Board as well should that be adjudicated.

But beyond that, maybe I can refer the question back to Mr. Stiers, as he would be much more conversant on this topic.

MR. STIERS:  That's generous, Ms. Giridhar, thank you. But I guess from my perspective, one of the other things I would add, Mr. Vellone, is you're hitting a critical point that we've made throughout the course of this proceeding and one of -- well, it's really at the top of our list of guiding principles is reliability and safety.

So we absolutely are focused on that.  Everything we've proposed here has that in mind, and that will remain of paramount importance to us.

Nothing we have proposed -- and I think we said this in writing and in testimony, nothing we proposed here absolves the company from its obligation to serve the firm contractual customers on a design basis, and we don't pretend to or intend to change that, or to deviate from that course, if you will, through our pursuit of IRPAs.

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly, and my concern here is not arising with regards to Enbridge's specific proposal.  I guess what I'm trying to figure out is how might OEB adjudicate an application where competing proposals are brought forth by third parties, and what types of information should they mandate in respect all IRPA alternatives so they can make an informed decision or judgment.  And I'll give you the bottom line where my head is going.

The OEB is guided by section 2 statutory objectives in the regulation of gas, and that lists a whole range of different topic areas that the OEB considers in making a decision, including to inform consumers and protect their interests with respect to prices and reliability and quality of gas service.

And I'm wondering if it makes sense to, as part of the IRP framework, for the Board to require evidence with regards to the impact of a particular IRP alternative on each of the statutory objectives from all parties, from Enbridge as well as third parties.

MR. STIERS:  That's an interesting thought.  I'm not sure that we've reflected on something specifically of that nature, Mr. Vellone.  The balance I might offer is we also need to ensure that whatever is established by the Board in terms of process as part of this proceeding is not necessarily overly onerous, or unreasonably onerous when it comes to assessment of IRPA alternatives and/or certainly the baseline facility alternatives that we would also be assessing to ensure that we can continue to meet our obligation.

Again, I don't know that we have a hard and fast position today on what you've proposed.  If it would be helpful, perhaps we can undertake to provide you with a position.

MR. VELLONE:  That's not necessary, thank you very much.  What I'll do is wait for the submissions and see with a your position on this topic is.

MR. STIERS:  Thank you.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I might add -- sorry, Mr. Vellone, I think it is important in the framework to recognize the point that has been made, I think, repeatedly in this hearing that the ultimate responsibility to ensure that its facilities and its services are designed to provide for meeting the firm contractual requirements of the customers is Enbridge's alone and not that of stakeholders.  I believe other entities that engage in stakeholdering, including the IESO, made that abundantly clear through their processes.  The decisions that impact quality, reliability, and service are made by the entity delivering the service.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

MR. STIERS:  And I suppose I could build off of that slightly as well, because it's probably somewhat related.  We've included quite a bit of background on risk in our reply evidence at Exhibit C, but some of the concepts there that ring true in this conversation, they may not be immediately applicable to all customers in the same way, but I think the risk of outage is certainly something that people need to keep in mind.

So we have got some language there where we state:

"Potentially reuniting many pieces of equipment during a peak demand period or the coldest day of the year would take a significant amount of time, resulting in extensive costs and potentially carrying with it other various serious consequences.  This important aspect of natural gas system outages must be taken into account in the development of any IRPA framework, as it drives Enbridge Gas's fundamental obligation to serve the firm contractual demands of its customers."

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much for that.  I would like to, if you're okay, move on to a second equity concern that APPrO raised in our interrogatories in APPrO 6, which you responded to and pointed us over to Staff 22, and that relates to Enbridge's request for approval of cost recovery for IRPAs.

And during the technical conference on February 11th you and Mr. Buonaguro had a fairly detailed exchange about how the allocation of costs to different ratepayers' groups might work for different IRPAs.  I don't want to get into all that now.  I'll summarize it to say that cost allocation and rate design itself might get complicated depending on the nature and scope of the specific IRPA that is being considered.  Is that fair to say?

MR. STIERS:  Yes, although overall I think what we've said in Exhibit B and in our responses to interrogatories is that, assuming that Enbridge Gas is approved to capitalize the cost of investments in IRPAs to its rate base, allocating the cost of IRPA investments in the same manner as the capital investments they serve to defer, avoid, or reduce is also appropriate, since the resulting benefits of system efficiency, reliability, and resiliency will be shared among ratepayers.  That's an initial position.  We of course do think, Mr. Vellone, that each instance will have unique aspects to it, and so future IRPA applications would include details or detailed proposal of specific accounting treatment.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  And I guess that last comment you made is really where I'm going with my questioning here.  It's really a process question.  My understanding from your exchange with Ms. DeMarco yesterday was that Enbridge intends to apply once to the OEB for an IRPA approval, something similar to a leave-to-construct application, and then Enbridge intends to apply a second time for rates approval for the IRPA at a later point in time.  Is that understanding correct?

MR. STIERS:  Yes, I think what we've proposed is that we treat these investments and the applications underpinning them very similarly to facilities that they go to defer or avoid.  So it would be entirely dependent upon in the future what IRM framework the utility is ultimately operating under, and of course you'll know that at rebasing that that could be reset, but presumably IRPA capital expenditures will be reviewed in a similar manner with all capital expenditures through the IRM capital mechanism, which could be either custom IR or ICM with price cap IR in the future.

MR. VELLONE:  Understood.  So normally in a leave-to-construct process you wouldn't address some of the equity issues that I'm raising right now during that hearing, for example, cost allocation, rate design, rate impacts.  You'd wait until a subsequent rate application; isn't that right?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And tat makes sense because we collectively, everyone in this hearing as an industry, have over decades of experience with regards to the methodology, processes, and procedures that are used to address cost allocation, rate design, and bill impacts for traditional pipelines.  Would you agree with that?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Are you proposing the same approach for IRPAs -- that is, to wait until a subsequent rate application -- before providing evidence to the OEB that might address equity issues associated with cost allocation, rate design, and rate impacts?

MR. STIERS:  Again, I think it will be entirely dependent upon the nature of the direction that the Board gives us in the establishment of the framework for IRPA, but we certainly contemplate and have proposed that the costs associated with IRP investments, so whether they be O&M costs or the revenue requirement on capitalized costs on IRPAs that are not included in base rates, which at this point is all IRP -- such IRPA costs, would go into a deferral account.  On an annual basis we would seek to clear that deferral account.

And so I think what you're asking is when would these issues potentially come to a head, and I suppose it's at that annual clearance.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  I guess I'm just going to put my concern out there then, which is, isn't there a risk that that's a little too late?  So for example, the OEB approves an IRPA in a leave-to-construct equivalent process because it's economic.  Great.  Then only later, either in these annual reviews or as a subsequent rate application, does the OEB learn that they have opened a Pandora's box in terms of equity issues out of the chosen IRPA, and maybe the OEB is left wishing they had picked a different alternative once they learn all that, but it's too late.

MR. STIERS:  I certainly hear your concerns and understand where you're coming from, and I would say that in certain leave-to-construct proceedings there is -- there are questions posed through the interrogatory process and so on as to what the company would propose when it comes to cost allocation and/or cost recovery.  At least that has been my experience.

So are you concerned that through that discovery process related to an IRPA application that the customers that you represent would not have adequate opportunity for discovery in that regard?

MR. VELLONE:  I am concerned that, absent guidance from the OEB on the types of factors that it is considering as relevant in the approval of an IRP alternative, the parties to a subsequent proceeding may not be on the same page in terms of what information is relevant at what point in time in which application.

And I'll be specific, it's APPrO's position that the OEB statutory objectives in section 2 of the OEB Act should guide its decision-making with regards to different IRP alternatives and that it would be reasonable to require evidence that address each of those objectives as part of its consideration of alternatives.

MR. STIERS:  So I should clarify that.  I think we've been on the record a number of times already in the proceeding to say that we do expect that as part of that original IRPA application, we would propose accounting treatment, and I think I said that earlier.

So to the extent we made that proposition as part of that initial application, it certainly would be an issue within the scope of the Board's review, and the Board can consider whether or not the proposal in terms of the accounting treatment, cost recovery, cost allocation and so on is appropriate.  But I'm not sure that completely satisfies, because there would still be under our current proposal an opportunity -- there would still be rather disposition application related strictly to the OEB approved costs that were ultimately recorded in the proposed IRPA deferral account.

MR. VELLONE:  Let me make sure I understood what you said there, and then I'm going to wrap up.

If I'm understanding you correctly, when you were making reference to accounting treatment, you're not referring to financial accounting treatment; you're referring to something much broader.  You're referring to a bunch of different regulatory accounting issues, like cost allocation, rate design, calculation of bill impacts, all that broader stuff.  That's what you mean when you say accounting treatment?

MR. STIERS:  Yes, I think at the outset, especially we intend that the IRP applications would need to address any unique accounting aspects related to each of the individual IRPAs.  Perhaps as experience is gained, there will be norms established and that may become less critical, but that's my understanding.

And again, others on the panel may be able to add greater explanation as to the detail.  I'm certainly not an accountant, but that's my understanding of our position, Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, those are my questions.  Apologies for going over.

MS. ANDERSON:  Next up is Energy Probe, I believe it's Dr. Higgin.
Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Good morning, Madam Chair. I don't know if my video is working, but you can hear me, I hope, and I can ask my questions.

So good morning, Madam Chair and Commissioners.  Roger Higgin for Energy Probe.  It's good to see a few of the Enbridge people I haven't seen for a while -- Ms. Giridhar, for example.

I'm going to be using my compendium that I have filed as the basis for this cross-examination.  So can I have an exhibit, please?  Is Mr. Millar there to give me an exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry. I hit the wrong button again.  K3.1.  
EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM

DR. HIGGIN:  Can Ms. Allman do the screen sharing, because it's too much technology for me.

Anyway, let's start on page 2 of the compendium, and this is the technical conference undertaking JT2.15.  Just scroll down a bit further to that table, so can you just confirm that this is a summary of the requested EG IRPA analysis we asked for, and it's based on your DCF plus methodology.  Can you confirm that?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes.

DR. HIGGIN:  I don't know who the point person is on this, but I would like to get confirmed a few of the main key assumptions that are common to both the base case and the IRPA.  So perhaps you can make a note as I list them, and then you can respond.

The first is discount rates as applied to both stage 1, stage 2, stage 3, and the carbon price assumptions and the time horizons.

Those are the three things that I don't see in this response, and I wonder if you could enlighten us on that. If there's any others, please add them in.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Certainly, Dr. Higgin.  I'm not -- I haven't had a chance to look at your compendium, but did you also include the remaining pages?  I think there were seven pages to this response?

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I did, and I'm going to page 2, which looks at the details of the IRPA in a few minutes.

But what are the common assumptions to the base case on the IRP, just to make sure we understand those common assumptions?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Very good.  For both the pipeline and the IRPA analysis, the discount rate for stage 1 is equal to the utilities incremental after cost of capital, and for stages 2 and 3, we are using what we're calling a societal discount rate of 4 percent.

DR. HIGGIN:  What about the carbon price assumptions?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  The carbon price assumptions, I think we spoke about this yesterday as well.  In the evaluation of an IRPA, we would be using the -- I guess it's currently scheduled to ramp up to the 170 dollar per tonne assumption.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Coming now to --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I may?  I believe might have said we could provide that as a scenario until there is more certainty on what it is.  Mr. Szymanski, I'm trying to recall whether we said we would provide the Stage 2 benefits based on the current 50 dollars per tonne by 2023, and then another scenario where we would in fact include the 170 dollars per tonne.

DR. HIGGIN:  The question there obviously is the timing as to whether, when the analysis is done and what the projections of the carbon price going out, for example, over 40 years.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  So perhaps we could have a quick breakout, so we can confer on this.  

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SZYMANSKI:  Okay.  I cannot tell if everybody is back or not.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  They are all back.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Okay.  Thank you.  So just to clarify, Dr. Higgin, on my earlier response regarding the carbon price, we stated yesterday --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry.  I'm sorry to interrupt, but I can't see who's speaking.  Sorry.  Oh, there.  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  We stated yesterday that we would be running -- for IRP analysis purposes we would be running multiple scenarios that show both the carbon price ramping up to the 170-dollar-per-tonne price, as well as the, I guess the current situation we're in where it's 50 dollars.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  That clarifies that one.

So could we just look at the right-hand table, and I just want to ask a question about the metric that you now have produced, which is called NPV per unit dollars for m cubed of demand.  That's a metric I haven't seen before.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  So that is just a, I guess a simple attempt at trying to recognize that there may be a difference in the capacity created or mitigated between a pipeline facility project and an IRPA, and if that were to be the case, this is a method where we would kind of bring them to an equal footing.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, I understand.  Thank you.

Can we look at page 3 and then briefly look at the inputs for the demand response IRPA case analysis.  So first stage 1, which is on the screen.  So you had a very long conversation with Mr. Elson about incremental revenue, so I won't go and repeat that.  But confirm the calculation of incremental revenue for the IRPA does not include avoided gas costs, and the commodity fuel costs is zero.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Sorry, I can't see the top of the page.  Are we on stage 1 or stage 2 here?  Oh, stage 1.

DR. HIGGIN:  Stage 1, and it's IRPA.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yeah, okay.  Yes.  So in this particular example there are no stage 1 avoided commodity or fuel costs.  Those would be reflected in the stage 2.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  And you would know that some people don't agree with that assumption, correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I would assume that somebody would disagree with every position that is out there.  Again, this was a high-level assumption.  If there were identified avoided commodity or fuel costs that the utility experienced under this example, they would be reflected.

DR. HIGGIN:  So can we just scroll down to the stage 2 analysis, please.  This note in the middle that I'm asking about is, it's about savings realized by end users implementing the demand response program, and then there is this comment about load-shifting.  Perhaps you can elaborate or explain that for me.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  So I'll give it an attempt, and if perhaps when I'm done Ms. Van Der Paelt may be able to build on it.  So this is from a perspective of peak load perspective.  So if a customer in a demand response situation -- if we were to influence a customer -- or, sorry, if the customer's peak demand was lowered, but all it did was shift that consumption to a later time period, whether it be a different day or different month, then on an annual perspective there is no savings, so this is going to that relationship between peak demand and annual consumption.  This line is a representation of their annual consumption savings.

DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  In electricity the term used is coincident peak demand.  Now, are you taking into account that aspect here; that is, coincidence?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No, Dr. Higgin, I don't think this is about coincidence.  This is reflecting -- so stage 2 is reflecting the customers' costs, so dependent -- on demand response, we obviously have not run a demand response program yet, but our understanding or my understanding is that sometimes there is what they call a snap-back.  So the customer reduces their thermostat, does not use the commodity from the peak period, so let's say from 5:00 'til 8:00, but then when that peak period is passed they actually increase their temperature to get their facility or their home up to a desired comfort level, and the savings have been shifted or the consumption has been shifted but hasn't actually reduced.

So we don't have the -- we've just seen that through articles that have been written about demand response, so that would be, well, called third-party research.  We have no direct evidence at this point, but that's my understanding on demand response programs at the residential level.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you for your response.  Could we please turn to page 6 of the compendium.  Follow-up questions I wanted to talk about.  And this is technical conference Undertaking JT1.16, 16.  Could we just go down to the chart?  That would be helpful.

So can we start by understanding this.  It's about risk, as I understand it, this is your risk analysis metrics.  Am I correct, this is what this is?

MR. STIERS:  I can confirm, Dr. Higgin, at a high level that is correct.  However, this is all in relation to what would be included in the asset management plan, and the expert on the asset management plan was Ms. McCowan, who was on panel 1 and is not here today.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So we have to go to an undertaking then.  So I think these are very high-level questions, and if you can't answer them we'll get an undertaking.

So first of all, do you propose using this type of metrics for pipe and non-pipe IRPAs in the asset management plan?  Is that how it's going to be used?

MR. STIERS:  Again, I don't think that we can answer that today on Ms. McCowan's behalf.  I apologize.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I hadn't realized.  It's my mistake.  So I can ask my other questions, and then if you would like to take an undertaking.  I will try to do them in step-wise form.

MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps, Dr. Higgin -- it's David Stevens speaking -- would you be amenable to entering these individually as undertakings?  They may be easier for us to answer and track that way.

DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So the first one is, is this metrics going to be used for considering pipe and non-pipe IRPAs in the asset management plan?  That's the first question.

MR. STEVENS:  We agree to that.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.2.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THE JT1.16 METRICS WILL BE USED FOR CONSIDERING PIPE AND NON-PIPE IRPAS IN THE ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN.

DR. HIGGIN:  So please tell us why in this illustrative example -- why the demand response is shown as significantly worse than pipe on financial, operational, and reputational factors.


MR. STEVENS:  We can answer that by way of undertaking also.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.3. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  TO EXPLAIN WHY IN THE ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLE THE DEMAND RESPONSE IS SHOWN AS SIGNIFICANTLY WORSE THAN PIP ON FINANCIAL, OPERATIONAL, AND REPUTATIONAL FACTORS.


DR. HIGGIN:  Coming to the question of how does an IRPA pass or fail, let's start with one there and look at the demand response plus AMI.

So what does that mean in terms of -- it seems to be relatively neutral, would you agree?  In this example, it's relatively neutral as far as risk is concerned?

MR. STIERS:  Right.  I think that's fair.  Again, I would defer to Ms. McCowan's expertise.  But my understanding is that that's an acknowledgment of the value of the availability of hourly data.

DR. HIGGIN:  My next question is about EASHP, which is heat pumps.  Tell us what this is, just confirm it, and why does this seem to be a good option?

MR. STIERS:  It's electric air source heat pumps.  I can do that now, and we can ask Ms. McCowan for an explanation of the categorization she's applied here.  I suspect that it was somewhat for demonstrate purposes, but I suppose we could confirm that.

DR. HIGGIN:  And then finally, the targeted energy efficiency, which is the right-hand column in here, and again the question is why is it worse on a financial operational and reputational factors.  That's my question.

MR. STIERS:  We have to ask Mr. Stevens to play this back in a form that's appropriate for an undertaking response.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you, Mr. Stiers.  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.  I recorded two different undertakings there, Dr. Higgin, one to advise as to why the EAHSP example shows good results.

DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And secondly, to advise as to why the ETEE column shows worse results for the final three values.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you very much.  And thank you again for accommodating me, and those are all my questions.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

MS. WALTER:  I want to mark those undertakings.  They are J3.4 and J3.5 respectively.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO ADVISE AS TO WHY THE EAHSP EXAMPLE SHOWS GOOD RESULTS

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5A:  TO ADVISE AS TO WHY THE ETEE COLUN SHOWS WORSE RESULTS FOR THE FINAL THREE VALUES


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar and Dr. Higgin.  So I see next is CME, and I believe Mr. Aiken is here.

MR. POLLOCK:  Mr. Pollock.

MS. ANDERSON:  I apologize. I'm jumping ahead.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Pollock:


MR. POLLOCK:  That's quite all right.  I guess from your response that everyone can hear me okay.  I see some nods.  Thank you again, Madam Chair, Commissioners, and witness panel for your time today.

I have a very brief set of questions regarding the costs of IRP and the risks associated with those investments.  And we talked about it a little bit, so I don't want to belabour the point.

But I was wondering, Ms. Allman, if we can turn to Exhibit B of the additional evidence, page 32 of 46.  I don't know that we necessarily need that up as I ask my questions, but just as a basis, that would be helpful.

So at a high level, as I understand Enbridge's proposal and the cost of IRP, what you're proposing do is essentially take the cost of the investment of the IRP and put those into rate base, or ask for those to be put into rate base, is that correct?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. POLLOCK: In terms of how those would flow through, you had a discussion with Mr. Vellone about particular issues.  But generally speaking, those would flow down in the same way the facilities investment would flow, in terms of cost allocation and other treatment.  Is that correct?

MR. STIERS:  At a high level, as an initial position, yes.  But we did acknowledge that specific IRPAs may require unique treatment, and any such treatment would be included as part of a future IRPA application.

MR. POLLOCK: Thank you, Mr. Stiers.  That brings us to what -- my words, I'm going to call the guiding principle behind the way that you are viewing costs and cost recovery in your proposal, which is like treatment for like results.

First I would ask is that fair to call it a guiding principle?

MR. STIERS:  We haven't included it as a guiding principle, but it does play large in Exhibit B of our evidence, and we repeated it multiple types in our testimony.  So I would say it's our words certainly as well.

MR. POLLOCK: So an organizing or important principle, maybe not a guiding principle.

So could you just explain why in particular that was used as sort of a high level encapsulation?  Is it Enbridge's view that like treatment for like results is inherently fair or appropriate in the circumstance?  So why that?

MR. STIERS:  Sure.  The concept of like treatment for like results is meant to be considered an adequate incentive as well for the utility.  There has been a lot of discussion over the course of this proceeding about what the right incentive is for certain IRPAs, and so on.

We feel that in order to adequately incent the utility to pursue investments in IRPAs, the concept of like treatment for like results, or the ability to capitalize the cost of investments in IRPA projects, will ensure that there is no bias and ensure that the utilities are adequately incented to pursue these investments he equitably going forward.  Does that help?

MR. POLLOCK:  That helps.  I guess what I'm wondering is that is from, I think, Enbridge's point of view.  Is there any sort of thought when you're using this in terms of its application, in terms of fairness to ratepayers?  So from a ratepayer's point of view, would you say that it's fair for like results to get like treatments?

MR. STIERS:  Yes, I think the concept of capitalization is fair when considering that the identified constraints that will appear within the asset management plan, and that will be updated on an annual basis, would otherwise be resolved through investments in facilities.

So we've talked at length again about identifying both IRPA opportunities, but also baseline facilities as part of this process.  And to the extent we've considered cost allocation, we've also tried to align those concepts where no one is worse off per se relative to the next best facility-based alternative.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I might add, I think this concept also applies to the way we are proposing to assess the economic assessment of the IRPA versus the facility.  It is important therefore to apply the same economic assessment framework, which is the DCF plus approach that we are proposing, as well as calling out or identifying the profitability index numbers for both the facility as well as the IRPA.

So I think you can see that thread going through all the way from the economic assessment outcomes in terms of reliability so on, and what Mr. Stiers just spoke about as well.

MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you very much.

MR. STIERS:  To add to that very quickly, the nature of the benefits from our perspective that are associated with any investments in IRPAs is very much similar to the nature of the benefits of those facility expansion or reinforcement projects, that they ultimately allow us to defer, avoid, or reduce in that they resolve forecast system constraints and/or needs.

So just reiterating my point, using some language directly from our evidence.

MR. POLLOCK:  Understood.  So if we scroll down to paragraph 80, please, this is talking about the allocation of costs and risks when the IRPA may not go as anticipated.  And I'm correct, I think, in stating that Enbridge's position is that ratepayers should bear 100 percent of the risks of IRPAs; is that correct?

MR. STIERS:  Yes, the Board is encouraging Enbridge Gas to rely upon IRPAs to resolve system constraints, and the company remains obligated to serve the firm demands of its customers during peak periods.  Therefore, our position is ratepayers should continue to bear the same risk.

MR. POLLOCK:  Right.  Okay.  And this is reflected -- so halfway down this paragraph -- I'll read it for you:

"Enbridge Gas expects that any and all prudently incurred original costs to invest in OEB-approved IRPAs, costs associated with OEB-approved adjustment to IRPA investments, and costs of any subsequent OEB-approved LTC projects would be borne entirely by ratepayers."

So my question for you is how this might play out in practical terms is you determine to invest in an IRPA and you get the go-ahead to do so.  That -- you make the investment, you pursue the IRPA, and then it fails to deliver the expected -- or it doesn't meet the constraints as you thought it would, doesn't provide the results you thought it would, and then you have to go in and do a facility construction anyway.

So am I right in thinking that because IRPAs would be capitalized to rate base that what this would look like is you would capitalize the IRPA cost to rate base and then if you were required to do another facilities alternative you would then in the normal course capitalize that as well to rate base?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  So you discussed in one of your previous answers incentives, and I picked up on something.  If we can turn to EP 6, the interrogatory response, and on page 2 of 3 of that response, at the bottom of the page, please.  So it talks about -- just at the end here it's talking about incentives and the fact that if you were to be able to rate base and get like treatment for like results, it says "this treatment also", and then if we could scroll down, "serves to eliminate any perceived bias towards facility investments".

And Mr. Stiers, I don't want to play gotcha, so I'll give you a chance to elaborate, but in your earlier answer you talked about incentives and removing bias, whereas this talks just about perceived bias.

So my question would be, in Enbridge's view is there an actual bias towards facility investments, assuming that there is no incentive and it's -- in a world without the incentives is there an actual bias, or is it just the perception on outsider's parts about a bias?

MR. STIERS:  Thanks for the opportunity to clarify.  I appreciate it.  I guess in the absence of like treatment for like results and in the absence of different incentive mechanism, there would obviously be a bias.  I think what I tried to articulate was that the like treatment for like results proposed is meant to eliminate any bias.

MR. POLLOCK:  Okay.  So there is an actual -- I'm just, I'm keying off the words here, perceived bias, but there is --


MR. STIERS:  No, I don't accept that -- I guess my hesitancy there is, I'm not trying to imply that the utility in any way would prefer to build facilities.  Through this proceeding we've been very clear multiple times with multiple intervenors that what we're trying do with this proposal is establish an adequate incentive through like treatment for like results that ensures equitable consideration, and we believe that like treatment for like results does.  We believe that the ability to capitalize the IRPA project costs effectively does that.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  If I may, been following along, but, you know, from the perspective of enabling an IRPA even relative to a facility, I think it's obvious that unless it has the same treatment it would be very difficult for the IRPA to pass the cost -- the cost assessment or the benefit to ratepayer, the impact to ratepayer, and the economic assessment approach that we are suggesting.

So if an IRPA were to be treated as an O&M, whereas the facility would be capital, I think it would be difficult to justify the impacts coming from the IRPA on ratepayers, so on multiple levels the like treatment is important so that we can properly apply the economic assessment features and understand rate impacts.

MR. POLLOCK:  Right.  Okay.  So thank you for that.  I'm a little short on time, so I'll move on to another question.  With respect to incentives, we discussed the fact that in the case of an IRP that fails you would seek to rate base about the IRP investment cost and the eventual facilities investment cost.

In terms of the incentives, doesn't that mean that the incentive -- the best outcome from an incentive point of view is that the IRPA fails, because then you would be able to rate base both.

And before I give that to you to answer, I'm not impugning anyone's motivation or suggesting that you're figuratively twirling your moustaches, but just from a structural point of view the incentives -- the best outcome would be to do both and put both into rate base; is that correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  We would disagree, but perhaps I can start, and Mr. Stiers can follow.  We would disagree with that, that the Board does have established processes around approving investments for cost recovery, and so there would be a significant onus on us to prove that we did everything we could to make the IRPA successful, so I would disagree with that statement.

What we really were thinking about in that instance of saying if an IRPA does fail and we don't need the alternative, we should be able to recover the cost of both, and, you know, obviously we would need to mitigate the cost of the IRPA to the extent possible in that instance.

You know, I can think back to a situation where in the past -- you know, it's an imperfect comparison, but it's an interesting comparison.  You know, there was a point in time where the Board allowed both Enbridge Gas and Union Gas to engage in a derivatives program in order to manage the volatility of gas costs, the commodity prices of cost, so in that instance if we had chosen an option that, you know, would have reduced volatility.  In the event that the option was actually not in the money, it was very clear that we were still able to recover the cost of that option, whether it succeeded or failed, because it was taken with the primary purpose of offering a service to our customers; i.e., a reduced price volatility.

So it's an imperfect comparison, as I said, but it's something similar.  The Board wants us to undertake IRPAs.  Our stakeholders want us to undertake IRPAs.  We will be within the first two or three North American jurisdictions to even contemplate it, let alone implement it.

We think it's appropriate that, you know, despite our best efforts, if an IRPA were to fail, that we would be able to recover the cost of the IRPA, as well as the facility alternative.

MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you.  And I guess I will come to it.  So I'm going to put it to you this way.  Isn't it the case that recovering for both the IRPA investments and the eventual facilities investment in my hypothetical where it's required, isn't that directly in contrast or in conflict with the idea of like treatment for like results?  And by that I mean you do an IRPA investment, and specifically ratepayers don't get the same results.  They in fact get less results.  It isn't addressing the system constraint in the same way.

Isn't the fact that you're recovering it in the same way not like treatment for like results, but rather, like treatment for any results whatsoever, whether it's zero results, some results, or all the results?  Isn't that true?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't think I would agree with that, Mr. Pollock.  At the end of the day for an IRPA to be chosen we would be forecasting like results and like treatment.  To my point earlier, if the outcome were that the IRPA was not as successful, I don't think we should be applying hindsight to that decision.

MR. POLLOCK:  But I guess -- so I take your point that, you know -- I'm not suggesting bad faith on the company's part.  The forecast would say what it says.  But in terms of ratepayers' point of view, we wouldn't be getting the same results for the same investment, necessarily.  It could be the case that it doesn't deliver?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would suggest the precedence in our jurisdiction is to test you're making with the use of the best known forecasts in the decisions we make around how we provide service to customers, and we would expect the same to continue.

MR. POLLOCK:  It's interesting you bring up precedent, because one way to look at this rather than looking at whether it was a prudent investment is whether or not the asset is used and useful, right.

So if we have an IRPA that's not useful, then that is one way the Board could view it in terms of whether or not you should be getting recovery, is it not?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think it would be fair to say if an IRPA did not work in a particular instance, to the extent that the IRPA could be used in another facility or another situation, you would make efforts to mitigate the costs.

I'm thinking specifically -- for example, if we were to use let's say some kind of air source heat pump, for instance, to mitigate the increase in peak demand.  And if that was not successful in a particular application, we would seek to mitigate the cost impact to the best of our ability.  I appreciate it may not be possible in every instance, but we would seek to do that.

MR. POLLOCK:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair, thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Pollock.  Mr. Mondrow, I believe you're next.  There you are.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, everybody.  I'm just going to start my timer.

It's been a very interesting discussion.  I have a few questions to add at this point. I think much of the ground has been covered, and I will attempt not to duplicate.

I want to ask to start with, witnesses, about the purpose of IRP as it's been proposed and we're discussing it, and contrast that with the purpose of DSM.

As I understand it, the purpose of IRP as we've been discussing and as you proposed in the IRP framework is to defer, avoid, or reduce new utility infrastructure where you can do so at a lower cost, utilizing an alternative.  Is that a fair summary characterization?

MR. STIERS:  It's fair, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Stiers.  The least cost option as between the conventional infrastructure approach and the IRPA is the central driver, right?  You're trying to reduce costs for ratepayers, everything else being equal?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, that is our focus, as well as trying to mitigate -- as I look here, our goal is to try to avoid and defer planned expansion through the reduction of demand in a cost-effective manner.

That's what we have here -- sorry, Mr. Stiers, I don't know if you wanted to add.

MR. STIERS:  Sorry, yes.  I tried to jump in a couple of times; I apologize for interrupting you.

I was going to reference, as I think it might be helpful, our Exhibit B evidence again describes it as a planning strategy underpinned by Enbridge Gas's guiding principles to consider facility and non-facility alternatives in tandem, which address long term system constraints and needs, such that an optimized, balanced, and economic solution is proposed to meet the identified constraint or need.

I think, Mr. Mondrow, that kind of covers the gambit of what you're asking at a high level.

MR. MONDROW:  Ms. Van Der Paelt, you referred to reduction of demand.  But you didn't mean necessarily a demand response or demand management solution.  It's demand for -- on the infrastructure?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's right.  I was referring to Exhibit A, our first evidence, that it was reduction of forecasted peak period demand.

MR. MONDROW:  I want to contrast that with DSM.  DSM, as I understand it, is aimed as reducing customer natural gas usage and customer energy bills, is that right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And it's not a primary objective of DSM to defer, avoid, or reduce new facility infrastructure?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No.  In the letter we received from the OEB regarding our next plan -- I believe we received the letter December 1st, and it identifies what you stated is the primary objective, and the reduction of infrastructure needs is one of the secondary objectives identified in that letter.

MR. MONDROW:  But safe to say that the IRP framework and the DSM framework have different purposes.  The former addresses utility infrastructure, and the latter addresses customer usage and associated cost.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I would agree.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Thank you.  Almost as an aside, in a few places in your evidence I've seen the phrase that IRPAs must be cost-effective compared to other facility and non-facility alternatives.

Aren't the non-facility alternatives the IRPAs?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.  But we've acknowledged, I think, over the course of the proceeding that we will not only necessarily be comparing to baseline facilities, but also to other baskets, I think was the termed used at some point, but other IRPA plans or IRPA combination that are potentials.

MR. MONDROW:  Fair enough.  I think I already asked you this, Mr. Stiers, but I just want to confirm that the objective of a cost-effectiveness test in the IRPA framework is to evaluate the cost of the IRPA versus the cost of the conventional utility infrastructure investment that it would be displacing, so that you can take the lower cost option.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That is the objective of the test and I believe there's three stages to it, Mr. Mondrow, that we identified.

MR. MONDROW:  I'm going to come to the stages, thank you.  But the test is intended to identify the lower cost option from the utility perspective.  That is you're either going to build an infrastructure, or you're going to initiate and deploy an IRPA to reduce the cost to the utility of delivering the service.  Isn't that the primary objective?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  The DCF plus test that we propose -- what you are describing, Mr. Mondrow, would be the stage 1 step within that analysis.  So yes, stage 1 would give you that -- call it the economic feasibility from the utility perspective.

Stage 2 would go on to add to the customers' costs of benefits.  And stage 3, the greater societal costs and benefits.

MR. MONDROW:  Why is it relevant, Mr. Szymanski, whether an IRPA is more cost-effective to the customer?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  So that element exists currently within the EB-0134 framework.  When you have a situation where you have a project, whether it's a facility or an IRPA that may not pass an economic feasibility test, the next step within that is to determine it's -- whether the project is in the public interest.

And so if you take a look at it from the greater -- you know, the utility and customer and society, that aids the Board in making that determination.

MR. MONDROW:  I understand that.  So my understanding is you're going to identify a baseline piece of utility infrastructure -- maybe piece is the wrong word, but baseline utility infrastructure first.

And then once is identified to meet a need or address a constraint, you're going to look at IRPA options that would meet the same need or address the constraints that might be more cost-effective.

And that's the Stage 1 analysis.  That's the point of the Stage 1 analysis, correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  You get a net present value of both the baseline infrastructure option and the IRPA option in Stage 1 from utility cost perspective, and identify the more cost-effective approach?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So if a non-pipe alternative, an NPA -- maybe too acronyms -- a non-pipe alternative passes the Stage 1, what's the function of the stage 2 and/or stage 3 analysis for?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  In our proposal, we are saying all three stages need to be looked at in order to make a determination as to which option is the best option from, I guess, a total societal perspective.

The first stage -- obviously there's a very -- you can have a possibility where both alternatives, IRPA and facilities, have a PI that is less than 1 or less than .8.  So in that situation the stage 2 and stage 3 would obviously play a greater role.

MR. MONDROW:  And that's because if that were the case -- let's assume that the PIs were less than 1 and they were equal for both the infrastructure solution and the non-pipe alternative -- you would want to, assuming the need had to be met or constraint removed, you would want to adopt the option that provided the highest level of secondary and tertiary benefit from societal perspective and the customer perspective.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  All other things remaining equal, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So if a non-pipe alternative failed stage 1 and is ruled out because it's more expensive than a utility infrastructure, the utility infrastructure option, is it ruled out, or can it be saved by stage 2 and stage 3?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  So our proposal is that we would run all three stages.  We don't stop at stage 1.  So we look at all three stages in total to make our evaluation.

MR. MONDROW:  So the answer to my question, I think, Mr. Szymanski, is if the non-pipe alternative fails stage 1 vis-à-vis the baseline infrastructure, you might still determine that it should be implemented based on stage 2 and stage 3?  So it's a more expensive option from the utility perspective, but when the societal value and customer side benefits are incorporated it becomes a superior option to the utility infrastructure option; is that right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is a possibility.  However, the results of all three stages would be presented in the analysis for Board's consideration.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mr. Mondrow, you know, this is why we also think it's important to present the PI from stage 1.  We do think it's important to give adequate weight to the cost-effectiveness from the utility perspective and identify it.  We believe it's a more transparent process to produce all three in accordance with EB-0134, and, you know, it becomes part of the decision-making on whether we go with the IRPA or the facility.

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, Ms. Giridhar, are you going to apply this analytical framework whether it's a transmission or a distribution issue?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And EB-0134 applies only to transmission, correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.  That's my understanding.

MR. MONDROW:  It's EB-0188 that applies to distribution currently?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And EB-0188 doesn't have stage 2 or 3, right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So Mr. Szymanski, back to your -- back to the discussion we were having a moment ago -- and Ms. Giridhar, I appreciate your point about transparency.  In fact, I think it's critical, and I'm about to explain why I think it's critical, hopefully, with Mr. Szymanski's assistance.

So Mr. Szymanski, as I understand your evidence, it is possible that the utility would look at your proposed DCF plus, I think it's called, test, which is basically the 0134, stage 1, stage 2, stage 3, and that might lead you to implement or to recommend a solution that actually costs the utility more than the baseline infrastructure solution; is that right, theoretically?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Theoretically that is a possibility.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And in that scenario any customers not participating in your non-pipe alternative would end up paying more for the same level of service, because there would be no benefit to those customers.  They're not participating at all, right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I agree.

MR. MONDROW:  And would that be an appropriate result?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is -- I guess that would be part of the evaluation process.  That is why we are proposing this multi-stage analysis, so that the transparency of these results will be seen by the Board, and ultimately it would be in the hands of the Board to determine whether that is appropriate.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, anywhere that you have a stage 1 that points to the baseline utility infrastructure solution, but stage 2 and/or 3 that then puts the NPA back on top, you're going to have this inappropriate result, aren't you?  For the Board --


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  [Multiple speakers]  If I can just insert myself here, Mr. Mondrow.  So we have committed in Exhibit Staff 20 on page 4 of 4, that we will run all three stages of the test.  The reason we are proposing the DCF plus model is because we think it's important to understand what the different components of that test do so that the Board can then reflect on which should be the primacy stage.  So we have not said which is the primacy stage, but we have said we will provide all the information so the Board at that time can look at the IRPA being proposed and determine if societal benefits, although to your point maybe not a direct customer getting it, is what is the primacy objective at that point in time.

MR. MONDROW:  I understand that, Ms. Van Der Paelt.  I'm sorry, I interrupted you.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No, that's fine.

MR. MONDROW:  I do understand that.  I guess where we struggle is -- where I struggle with is, if we're looking at what's cost-effective vis-à-vis a baseline utility infrastructure, considering broad societal benefits seems to be counterintuitive, but I guess that's kind of straying into argument, so I do have your evidence.  I do understand your proposal.  And in particular, Ms. Van Der Paelt, thank you.  I understand you're not actually proposing to use the test in the same way as EB-0134.  Indeed, EB-0134, which is your DCF -- is it DCF?  Yes, DCF plus test is actually about whether to build a piece of infrastructure or not, to address a need or a constraint or not, whereas what you're talking about in this framework is compared -- you've decided you're going to address the need.  The issue is which is the more cost-effective option from a utility -- from a -- from the perspective of the utility and its customers, and we can perhaps nuance that in submissions, but that's -- I've got that right, I guess.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  And that's why we like EB-0134, because you are comparing it to the facilities alternative, and there is a structure and process that we're familiar with, so that is why we have a preference for this model, is having that stage process, and having the ability to show all three parts of that test as we go down this road.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Let me move on, because I am running short of time, and I know lunch is next, so this is not the time to make anyone angry.

You list the types of IRPAs in your evidence, and I don't have to take you to it.  It's Exhibit B, page 21, for the most part.  You've talked about most of them:  residential, natural gas heat pumps, impressed natural gas, targeted energy efficiency, supply solutions, green fuels, demand response, geothermal systems, power to gas plants.  These are examples.  They're not intended to be a complete list.  I think that was your testimony yesterday, Mr. Stiers.

MR. STIERS:  That's right.

MR. MONDROW:  So there could be more.

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Interruptible services is one?

MR. STIERS:  Yes, I think we've acknowledged during the proceeding.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And Ms. Van Der Paelt, you had some discussions with Ms. Jackiw for OSEA on this topic just a little while ago, and Ms. Giridhar and Ms. Van Der Paelt, you both related your historical experience with interruptible customers.  But is it fair to say that under the IRPA framework you would be looking at any potential interruptible service NPA under a completely different paradigm:  incentives, technological support?  I mean, you're talking now about the utility spending money on behalf of ratepayers to make a non-pipe alternative work, and that's very different from your conventional interruptible rate approach, correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I would acknowledge the environment has changed from what we had used interruptible services for and how they were approached historically, which is why as part of our rebasing application services will be looked at and will be brought forward as we're looking through different rates.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And you talked about that.  You talked about it as being a rate design issue, but non-pipe alternatives are not rate design issues, are they?  They're projects/incentive/technology issues.  They are not rate design issues, necessarily.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No, but interruptible services are typically a contractual issue with a rate attached to it.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  But you might find it cost-effective to spend money to support some alternative fuel source or alternative process approach or early return to system, rather than waiting 24 hours, for example, if the system can bear it.  I mean, there are all kinds of modifications to interruptible service that become possible if you're talking about more than simply setting the rate.  You're talking about setting the rate, paying incentives, assisting customers with advance metering.  There's all kinds of options, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, there are more degrees of freedom, I would agree, in contemplating interruption in this context than you would have in the traditional rate-making approach.

MR. MONDROW:  Maybe it's worth looking at interruptible services in a different way.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I understand them to be a variant of the demand response concept, but perhaps I should defer to Ms. Van Der Paelt, who is much more knowledgeable on this front than me.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The interruptible rates as a demand response concept for contract customers, I would agree that is where that plays in.  We considered that, Mr. Mondrow, because of the work that is being done on rate harmonization, that it felt more appropriately the analysis and work with that would fall more appropriately with the rebasing application, again knowing that is coming forward in the next 24 months.

So it's not it is out of scope in terms of a possibility for an IRPA.  We would like the time to look at the rate structures and how they work together before coming up with solutions in that regard.

MR. MONDROW:  You'd be happy to take input once you have framework on the extent to which an interruptible approach for contract customers might assist in respect of IRPAs?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yes, similar to any rate design work we do, we seek input from customers in terms of how they find the current rate structure, what they would like to see, and then that is factored in.

As you know, we've consulted members before as we designed P2 and P1 rates in the past.  This would be a similar as we go through our rebasing application, if there are changes.

MR. MONDROW:  I think you may have some more ideas.  But we'll see what the framework says.  Thank you.

Are there any parameters around what the utility should not be doing for an IRPA?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I would build on what Mr. Stiers has said, and let him go from there.  We have a couple things in terms of -- it needs to be sure that we have our reliability and safety and the quality, like guiding principles that we have up-front.  We have to make sure that no IRPA runs into conflict with those.  We have this obligation to serve to meet firm contract needs.

That said, we do think there's more alternatives than we've listed.  But also recognize that everybody would like us to get started.  We do want to start with a group and a listing of things that at least have some known requirements, known savings, benefits costs around them as a starting point for the discussions.

MR. MONDROW:  How should the Board determine what IRPAs are appropriate for utility investment and what IRPAs are not appropriate?  Is there guidance you can offer?

MR. STIERS:  I don't have a position on what the Board should decide is appropriate and not appropriate today.  I think we've given a good example what we think are appropriate IRPAs for the Board to consider, and we are seeking its guidance through the establishment of a framework that provides us adequate flexibility to consider those IRPAs, and to consider others that perhaps we have not contemplated yet.

We certainly expect the framework is going to evolve as experience is gained in the province, and through ongoing learnings in other jurisdictions, as I think I've said a number of times.

So, I guess, Mr. Mondrow, to sum it up, one of the priorities is that we ask that the framework not overly restrict consideration of IRPAs, or their ownership, their operation, or their procurement at this early stage.

MR. MONDROW:  In fact, you'd like no restrictions, right?

MR. STIERS:  That's right.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I am probably at my time.  I have one more question I'd like to ask with you leave, and then give you lunch.  Thank you.

Ms. Giridhar would you agree there is a strategic incentive for Enbridge Gas Inc. the distributor to diversify into non-pipe alternative ways of providing service?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Enbridge has adapted to the energy transition as one of its strategic priorities or intents,  I think.  So yes, Enbridge does have an interest in diversifying to provide energy in step with the energy transitions that are occurring.

MR. MONDROW:  When you say Enbridge, do you mean Enbridge Inc., your shareholder?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Perhaps I should check with you as to whether you meant Enbridge Inc. or Enbridge Gas, but I was referring to Enbridge corporately because I assumed that was your question.

MR. MONDROW:  Good, thank you, you're right.  And indeed this diversification basically unrestricted, as Mr. Stiers has requested, would help you, being the distributor and your shareholder in future-proofing your business, the distribution business?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I think I should probably provide some context.  The label "unrestricted" was from the perspective of ensuring that we consider the full universe of IRPAs when compared to facility from a cost-effectiveness, quality, reliability, risk -- all those perspectives.

We certainly do have several guidelines that influence how we could participate in this space.  So for example, we already have guidelines on how costs should be assessed, et cetera.  So I would not call this unrestricted.

We would absolutely work with any existing guidelines, and I've already said we would seek to procure these IRPAs from the market first, and the role that Enbridge wants to play in the space as a gas utility -- as the regulated gas utility is to facilitate the marketplace and step in, in areas where the market does not function.  So to play a facilitation role in a full consideration of these IRPAs.

MR. MONDROW:  But you've talked in your testimony about more than facilitating this.  You want to -- one of the objectives in your evidence says you're encouraging and facilitating Enbridge Gas's energy transition.  You're trying to adapt to the future.

I don't mean that pejoratively; it's completely understandable.  But that's one of the objectives here, right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I think we've said that repeatedly.  We understand and accept there is an energy transition occurring, and we want to make sure that we support the Board and its statutory objectives to provide for rational expansion of the transmission systems, and IRPA framework talks directly to that objective.

MR. MONDROW:  Would it be appropriate for Enbridge and its shareholder to share the risks, given that you are also aiming to achieve corporate benefits?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I would have to clarify what you meant by that statement, Mr. Mondrow, because anything that we would -- any activity that we would engage in in this context would be driven primarily by the need to provide a cost-effective solution within the context of the IRPA framework, and to comply with all the requirements that are already in place.

And these requirements already specify what risks are appropriate for the regulated utility to take, and what risks are not.  So I believe we have everything in the framework -- or the framework of guidelines that already exist in this regard.

MR. MONDROW:  We don't have a framework.  You're asking for a framework.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  With respect to IRPA, that is correct.  With respect to where the risks lie in terms of activities undertaken by either the utility corporation not pertaining to the regulated aspect, or an affiliate of the utility corporation engaging in an activity.  We already have the rules in place in terms of how the costs are allocated, where the benefits lie, and how the risk is undertaken.

MR. MONDROW:  You're proposing IRPA and non-pipe alternative activities within the regulated entity -- within the regulated construct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  With the express purpose of meeting the regulated requirement to serve its customers with respect to price reliability and quality, and with the express commitment to look to the market and to seek competitive processes to the extent they're available.

MR. MONDROW:  It's not appropriate for the shareholder to bear any risk in respect of these activities under this framework?  That's your answer?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct, because these activities are undertaken with respect to the provision of the regulated service to our customers.

MR. MONDROW:  I am over time, Madam Chair.  Thank you, Ms. Giridhar, I appreciate your answers and your indulgence.  Thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  We will take the lunch break.  We're going to cut it short, and we're going to come back at 1:45 with Mr. Millar, OEB Staff.  
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:54 p.m. 
--- On resuming at 1:45 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  I want to make sure the Panel is ready.  I see my fellow commissioners.  I see Mr. Millar.  So I think we're set to go.  Anything for -- Mr. Millar, are you ready to go?

MR. MILLAR:  I'm ready, Madam Chair, and I'm not aware of any preliminary matters.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Great.  Please proceed.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much, and good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff in this matter.  Maybe I'll begin just by marking our compendium as an exhibit.  I think we're at K3.2 now, and this is Staff's final compendium.  It will cover all of the remaining panels.
EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  OEB STAFF COMPENDIUM.

MR. MILLAR:  Before I get into that, anyway, I just wanted to follow up on a question I put to panel 1 that was referred to panel 2.  This related to capital contributions.  And I think Mr. Stevens probably put my question best.  It related to this, and it's a case, if there's a project that's subject to EB-0188 and it uses up the remaining capacity that's available in a particular area, is it fair or appropriate that the new customer does not pay for any system reinforcement under EB-0188 currently, knowing full well that the next person who comes along and attaches to this system will impose such a cost?

So any thoughts from the panel on that issue?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I can offer a few thoughts, and, you know, appreciate hearing from the rest of the panel as well.  So the interpretation of EB-0188 has been, as you described, Mr. Millar, which is reinforcement costs are attached to the growth project that necessitates or triggers it, and that is how we have interpreted the -- I think the wording is something to the effect of normalized cost of reinforcement.

Where we are -- and I think there might be a slight variant between the two legacy utilities in how that was interpreted, and one of the things I think we will be doing as part of our integration efforts is to take a look at that and, you know, potentially bring that back at rebasing.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  It's fair to say that there's no proposals with respect to that in the current application; is that right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And it may be something you look for at rebasing.  I think that's probably all I need for the purposes of these questions.  So let me move on.

Some questions about incentives, and some of this has already been covered, so I think I'll probably be a little faster than I expected.  But just to start, maybe we can turn to page 4 of the PDF of our compendium.  And let me start with a question.

Enbridge's general proposal is that cost recovery for IRPs, these costs would be capitalized to rate base; is that correct?  You can see that at the bottom of page 4, top of page 5.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think you've discussed this before, Ms. Giridhar, but you won't have like treatment for like results.  I think that very phrase appears in the passage that I've quoted here; is that right?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And is it fair to say that this model assumes that Enbridge -- that there is an asset for Enbridge to own; in other words, something that has been purchased that can be placed into rate base?  Whether it would have been capitalized under other policies is a different matter, but you're purchasing something that can be added as an asset to rate base.  Does this model depend on that approach?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct, or the treatment of it as an asset for rate base purpose, and since I believe we referred to a regulatory accounting to provide that assurance.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  One of the things that Mr. Quinn brought to your attention throughout this proceeding is the idea of some market-based supply-side solutions, and again, without getting into great detail on that, I think, if I understand Enbridge's position, is that they're certainly willing to look at those where they arise if they might be a suitable IRPA.  Is that a fair summary?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, was that you, Mr. Stiers?  I kind of have you --


MR. STIERS:  It was.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

And I guess one of the challenges that might arise with that approach, I think Mr. Quinn touched on this, but I don't think he asked this directly, is that's not a thing that -- at least to me it's not obvious how you would rate-base a solution like that, or, if rate basing isn't the answer, what other incentive might be appropriate for that type of approach.  I don't see an asset that you can capitalize there.

Do you have any -- first, have I got that right?  Am I missing something?  Is there something that could be capitalized with respect to that type of solution?

MR. STIERS:  I think it depends on the nature of the specific market-based alternative that's being contemplated, Mr. Millar.  Certainly the company proposes like treatment for like results which, in the majority of cases, we believe will include capitalizing the IRP cost to rate base, but we acknowledge it may be possible that there are IRPA solutions where capitalizing the IRPA cost to rate base isn't reasonable.  And if that situation does arise, then the company may bring forward an alternative accounting treatment, which could include perhaps an incentive mechanism, aside from like treatment for like results, as part of the associated IRPA application that we've been talking about today.

One such market-based alternative that comes to mind that may differ in terms of, let's say the notional term associated with it would perhaps be for an upstream transportation.  Those I think may be appropriate to be capitalized.  They are longer-term in nature.

But I think what you're thinking of -- and I may be, you know, presupposing, but at the risk of that, I think what you may have in mind are some shorter-term, let's say one-year peaking services or delivered services that are shorter-term in nature.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I think you're accurate in that, and if I heard you correctly there, you're saying there is no specific proposal in your current application about those types of incentives, but if I understand you correctly, those might be the types of things you bring forward when you file for an individual IRPA; is that right?

MR. STIERS:  That's absolutely correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I guess on a similar point, if we turn to page 10 of the PDF.  There we go.  So I want us to look at a scenario where the Board endorses incentives for -- where customers may be the owner of an asset.  You know, heat pumps is something we've talked about a lot, but it doesn't particularly matter what it is, but certainly one idea would be that customers are the owners of the assets.

And I just wanted to confirm for you how you think that would be treated if that were the model; in other words, if Enbridge didn't own the asset but a customer did.  Would you still be looking to add I guess what would otherwise have been O&M cost to seek to capitalize those?  Is that how that would work?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Perhaps I can go ahead.

MR. MILLAR:  Please.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So in this, if the customer owned an IRPA -- I think Ms. Giridhar alluded to this and spoke to this in the last panel.  Any incentives we would have to pay, which typically would be an O&M cost to incent --


THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry to interrupt.  I don't know who's speaking.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Oh, sorry, it's Sara Van Der Paelt.

THE REPORTER:  Okay.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So any incentives --


THE REPORTER:  Yeah, I'm sorry, can you start again?  Sorry.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Certainly.  So Ms. Giridhar spoke to this briefly prior to lunch.  Any incentives we would have to pay as part of the program to encourage customers to adapt an electric heat pump, those would typically be considered O&M expenses.  In the normal course of business we would consider those to be capitalized as part of our IRPA cost.  We don't actually own the heat pump in that case.  It is only those costs of the program or what it took to move the market.

In other examples that we thought of is if there is a situation where it's a piece of equipment that is not commercially available or there is no distribution market, there is no competitive source, where maybe Enbridge has to source the equipment to bring it into Ontario, that's a situation where we might own -- there might be an equipment cost to us if we actually have to -- if the incentive is actually to put the equipment in somebody's house, that we actually have to pay for the equipment and install it.

So you could see a situation like that in certain low-income communities or something like that, where we have to actually pay much greater than just an incentive.  All of those costs would be considered IRPA costs and would be capitalized.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand.  That's what I thought.  I just wanted to confirm that.

I'm going to move on to some questions around stakeholdering, and again, there's been a lot of talk about stakeholdering, so I don't plan to take too long on this, but just to take a step back, what Enbridge proposed has is to do stakeholder consultation activities, and we've talked a lot about them so I don't need you to repeat them.  But what you're not proposing is a formal IRP committee; is that correct?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.  Where the discussion yesterday was really the context of having a group of people, including experts, to talk about assumptions around IRPAs and those things where -- I think the discussion went to we could talk and resolve issues without having to have an adjudicative process.  We think there is a lot of benefit in that, and see that as being a working group that we should have in order to work through those items.

Where I wanted to add clarity -- the Vermont example specifically is an example that we have -- we don't agree with.

MR. MILLAR:  I won't take you back to the Vermont example, but I do want to run a couple of other things by you quickly.

First, I just wanted to confirm that the reason you have some hesitancy perhaps about the Vermont model in particular, but the committee approach more generally is that it can be overly cumbersome.  I'm reading from your evidence on page 21 of our compendium.

That's kind of the concern about a committee type approach?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The cumbersome nature and also the decision-making rights.  So this goes back to what I did say yesterday on the record, that as long as, you know, the utility is the group where the organization that is accountable for the system and the reliable service --delivery of our firm services.

So we believe that we own that decision-making right, and therefore have to have decisions, final decisions on what we bring forward to present to the Board in IRPAs.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  I'll run two ideas by you quickly and I have a guess as to which one you'll like more than the other. But I'll put the questions to you and see where we go.

One would be based essentially on the evaluation advisory committee model that we have for the DSM framework, which already exists.  Is anyone on the panel at least generally familiar with that?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I am familiar with it.

MR. MILLAR:  As I understand how that works is the -- if you were to try and transpose that onto an IRP situation, you have a committee that would meet regularly to review Enbridge's asset management plan and its draft IRP annual report, with the idea of providing some inputted advice.

Enbridge would consider the inputted advice before it filed the final version with the OEB.  And it would include, you know, whether consensus had been achieved and the best option to address system constraints, whether that be a facility project or some type of IRPA.  And where parties disagreed with these solutions, that would be described in the report as well, although it doesn't necessarily trigger something at the OEB.

Is that type of approach, just at a high level, something that might work for IRP?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  The way we have thought about this decision-making right and the obligation we've identified in evidence is we have thought about it in terms that Enbridge would run the committee or the working group, Enbridge would run the working group, but that we would report out to the Ontario Energy Board and it would be following and discussing similar issues that the EACS does, right.  So we would be talking about what is the appropriate costs and what are –- it's meant to be a discussion forum to get those best ideas.

So we view that as Enbridge owning and operating that process, but obviously would defer to the Board to where they saw the best interest.

MR. MILLAR:  Am I correct what you're proposing is not really dissimilar from what already exists with the evaluation advisory committee on the DSM side?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Not dissimilar.  I think what we would try to make sure we have -- we identified on EAC some terms of reference that are important, and we think that's one thing we need to sort out on EAC, and that would be a key part, so the scope and terms of reference.

But we think we can take that on and file it with the OEB.  But that would be an area that would need to be sorted out.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, understood.  That's helpful, thank you.  I want to put to you a proposal that staff have come up with in New York.  This is from that New York staff paper that was released a couple weeks ago, and has been circulated to the parties.

There's an excerpt on page 37 of the compendium.  The entire report is included in the latter half of the compendium.  They have ideas there about stakeholder participation, which I'll run by you quickly for your thoughts.  I'm going to summarize what we see on pages 37 and 38 of the compendium here.

But what the staff in New York are proposing is -- it starts off by saying the gas system planning process must include substantial education and stakeholder engagement.  So what they propose is a technical conference for three to four weeks before the initial filing of the utility.  Parties are allowed to make requests for additional information.  After the plan is filed, the committee should invite stakeholder comments, which can include their proposals for alternative solutions to utility proposed solutions, with respect to any identified restraints.

And after receiving comments, the utility will host additional stakeholder meetings and would be required to file a revised long-term plan, if they were convinced there were some good ideas in there, and if stakeholders don't agree with what's ultimately proposed, there is an option for the commission in New York will direct some sort of review of the filed plan.

What are your thoughts on that type of approach?

MR. STIERS:  Mr. Millar, can I ask a clarifying question?

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.

MR. STIERS:  Is this in the context of the long-term plan that is proposed to be filed or updated every three years or so in New York?

MR. MILLAR:  I think that's correct.  I recognize the situation in New York is a little bit different than what we have in Ontario and what's being proposed here.  So we don't get perfect overlay of the different concepts.  But yes, I think that's correct.

MR. STIERS:  Okay.  It just struck me that almost a month of technical conference ahead of, say, our proposed annual updates to the asset management plan might be excessive.  But I'll defer to Ms. Van Der Paelt.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Thank you for that clarification.  When we think of the asset management plan, this process -- put aside three to four weeks, but the process itself mirrors closely what we propose, and that the asset management plan would be filed, we would have public consultation through stakeholders days, which we have now proposed will be regional in nature.

We have asked for people to bring forward their ideas and submissions in a written format.  We would respond to those written submissions, and that would form part of the changes in decision makings of the ultimate IRPA we would bring forward to the OEB for a decision.

I think what else we've added is this addition of the working group that those IRPAs will be more fleshed out prior to that, so there will be discussion of the key stakeholders on what those IRPAs are and are not, and what are the savings associated with them.

So I think there is an added benefit which we have added in on top of what they have here.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that's helpful.  In the interests of time and recognizing that New York is not identical to Ontario, I'm going to keep moving here.

Another issue touched on I think by Mr. Poch earlier, this relates to the idea the first time the Board sees an IRPA is when you file the IRPA.  And where Enbridge has screened out IRPAs and goes with a facilities solution instead, the first time the Board sees that is where the leave to construct is filed.

And there were questions earlier today about, well, it's kind of too late at that point to do anything other than the leave to construct, so the board's hands are a bit tied there.  There was a discussion back and forth that, well, it depends a little bit, and there may be a little bit of runway for another solution.

But I think it was accepted there will be cases where by the time you get to the leave to construct, that may be the only realistic alternative to meet the system needs.

Do you recall that discussion?  I think it was largely with Mr. Poch, but other people raised it as well?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I think there was a reluctance from Enbridge.  Indeed, we have -- if you look at page 46 of the compendium this is response to the interrogatory, I think we can pull it up.

Staff kind of asked you what are the appropriate remedies for the Board, if something like that happens, if you come with an LTC and the Board says, listen, it looks like there was an IRPA solution here, but it's kind of too late now, and we asked what would the Board do about that.

And I think your response from that interrogatory is that that's for the Board to decide at the time, when the LTC comes out, whatever repercussions there should be should be handled when that application comes before the Board.  Is that still the company's position?

MR. STIERS:  I think so, yes.  But I would just go back to the -- the original question I believe used the terminology of what penalty should be applied, and I believe we responded in kind to say it seemed a bit premature to be considering punitive penalties to the utility at this stage.  And I hope that comes through this written response. 

I should be clear that what we've attempted to do is to set out a process that is going to give up to a decade of advance notice and a process for input from stakeholders that's publicly available, and that's recorded, and all made available to the Board.  So in that way we don't see, Mr. Millar, that we're deviating very far from what we've done from a facilities standpoint, and would assert that overall the approach is still appropriate on that basis.

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, and the word "penalties", frankly, maybe we should have used the word "repercussions" or something like that.  I don't -- we didn't mean something like a compliance proceeding or anything like that, so I think it was more the consequences of coming forward with a facilities application where there may have been other alternatives.  That could happen today.  

We don't -- you know, that could have happened 10 years ago.  There might have been instances where the Board felt that the proposal that came forward at the end of the day was not the best one, but it was kind of stuck.  And indeed, the Board does have remedies for that.  Presumably, one option would be to disallow some portion of capital cost recovery, but I guess there seems to be a reluctance for -- let me put this a different way.

This seems to me to be something that Enbridge might prefer to know now and to be dealt with kind of upfront to the extent that we can, where I think the proposal you have is, that, well, we'll see what happens, and if and when that arises we'll look at it then.

Do you see any benefit to the Board kind of trying to address this issue head-on now, if only so Enbridge kind of knows what to expect going forward?

MR. STIERS:  I think certainly clarity in general is being sought through the development of the framework.  So to the extent that the Board has positions today with regard to what the appropriate mitigation measures might be and/or what the ramifications of any such activity would be, then certainly that clarity would help.


But again, I would say that our proposal is based in the idea that with the exception of instances where we've been found to act imprudently or have failed in our efforts to implement an IRPA or a facility, for that matter, in accordance with any future application to the Board and subsequent approval for the same, we don't see that as being high-risk, and we do believe that we have put forward a proposal that adequately mitigates that risk.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that, Mr. Stiers.

Let me move on.  Again, there has been a lot of discussion in this proceeding about load-forecasting risks and risks associated with climate policy, whether that be carbon pricing or something else, and I'm not going to ask a lot of questions about that, but there is one thing I wanted to follow up on, and maybe in that regard it's most helpful to turn to page 57 of the compendium.  And this is from the presentation day, where Mr. Parkes put forward some ideas, or at least he discussed the concept that IRPAs can offer some unique value in comparison to facility projects, at least in certain contexts, and that might be specifically in dealing with regard to gas demand, forecast risk, climate policy, and that type of thing, and his suggestion there is that IRPAs may be more modular than facility projects, in that in many cases they will be a lower carbon alternative, therefore more resilient to future climate change policies.

At a high level is that a fair analysis?  Is that a fair point?  Let me put the question more specifically.  Is a non-build alternative, IRPA type alternative, less risky from a forecast risk point of view than a facilities alternative would be?

MR. STIERS:  Please go ahead, Ms. Giridhar.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Mr. Millar, I think we've said a few times that the IRPA framework we are bringing forward is -- does take into account the energy transition that we are going through and presumably, you know, which will unfold in ways that we don't foresee today.  So I would agree that that is one of the reasons why various stakeholders and the Board and Enbridge as well is interested in an IRP framework.

So a well-designed IRP framework with the right outcomes I suppose would fit this description here, and that we would be making the most cost-effective decisions in the energy transition context that we're facing.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And when we talk about the most cost-effective -- I guess to make my question a little bit more specific, is this particular benefit to IRPAs quantified in your analysis when you weigh them against the facilities alternative?  In other words, is there an input that accounts for the fact that, you know, an IRPA that is less carbon-intensive reduces your risk with respect to changes -- climate-change policy changes, including carbon pricing?  Is that something that's specifically recognized or is that just something you kind of kept in the back of your mind?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  You know, in thinking about this, one of the thoughts we had is in fact a DCF plus framework, where we are presenting the stage 1, 2, and 3 benefits, that it does allow for consideration of this factor, so in other words, if a stage 1 cost was higher for the IRPA than the facility, you could presumably look at stage 2, which would include the carbon benefits explicitly, and you could look at stage 3, which is the societal benefit, and the Board could decide that the IRPA should proceed in lieu of the facility.

So our desire just to be as transparent as possible in bringing all of these considerations forward, and we do think the DCF plus framework allows explicit consideration of these factors.

MR. MILLAR:  One of the things -- yes, sorry, go ahead.

MR. STIERS:  Just to add really quickly, so I think just to somewhat temper this perspective, and the quote that you put out there, I think Ms. Giridhar has done a much better job than I could have of responding to that question, but we are on the record in the proceeding, recognizing that forecasts contain a degree of uncertainty, and also that the known ability for facility alternatives to meet natural gas load forecast needs in Ontario is much greater than the known ability for IRPAs to meet those same needs.

We've gone on as well to say that uncertainties associated with IRPA forecasted potential demand reductions should be considered also additive to the existing uncertainties in natural gas load-forecasting, and potentially add risks to Enbridge Gas's ability to deliver reliable supply of energy to its customers as a supplier of last resort.

So I don't -- I'm not trying to deviate per se from the path you're taking us on, but rather just to offer a bit of a counterbalance to the perspective quoted.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  You're saying it's a two-edged sword, if I can put it that way.

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Just very quickly, and then I think I'm done.  More to follow up on Ms. Giridhar's response.  One of the tools used on the DSM side is something called the non-energy benefit, which is kind of a 15 percent add or -- to put it in the simplest terms, on the benefit side of the equation for DSM.  Frankly, that's a pretty blunt tool, and I'm not suggesting that's the type of thing that you would interpose on a one-to-one basis on to the IRPA, but I guess it's fair to say that there is nothing comparable to that in your current proposal?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Perhaps I can answer this, Mr. Millar.  That is what we call non-energy benefits in stage 3, so --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the -- sorry, go ahead.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  -- there is a location for it in the test.  As you said, we don't have a number for it.  We have the DSM number at this point in time.

MR. MILLAR:  And, sorry, to be clear, do you use the DSM number at this point, or -- which I think is 15 percent.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We only used it to evaluate the energy efficiency alternatives that we did as an example, because that's consistent with DSM.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We would have to look at that.  That's one of those takeaways that we would need to look at as we develop this proposal.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's very helpful.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  There is a placeholder for it in stage 3.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you very much.  I think I understand.

Madam Chair, somehow my time is all gone, so I am going to -- have to end it there.  Thank you very much, panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar, for staying under your 30 minutes.  Always good when Staff does that.

So Mr. Buonaguro, I think you're up for OGVG -- I always have to stop and say that -- OGVG, greenhouses.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.  Good afternoon, Commissioners, and panel.  My name is Michael Buonaguro, and I'm counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

I'm going to try and tiptoe around some of the cross-examination you already faced for the past few days, since I think I'm the last person up before the commissioners have a chance to ask questions.

The first question I have has to do with the discussion about future-proofing that the panel had yesterday.  Just as a matter of record, it was from the transcript volume 2, page 41, and the discussion was around the need to possibly future-proof Enbridge's distribution transmission system so that it can accommodate the future possibilities with respect to things like 100 percent hydrogen.  Do you recall that conversation?  I think it was with Ms. Giridhar.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My question was:  Is Enbridge future-proofing now?  So for example, you have a recently approved leave to construct with respect to the London replacement project, and that's a 160-dollar project, or around that; I don't think that's the exact figure.  Is that a future-proof project?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I don't believe there was explicit consideration of fuels, other than natural gas being transported by the London Lines project.  We would have to develop the engineering assessment guidelines.  We would have to observe what codes and standards might come into being with respect, for example, specifically with respect to hydrogen.  So this is really a future-looking prospect.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So as of right now, Enbridge is still -- when it does a pipeline solution, it's still putting in pipeline that can't accommodate sort of the best case scenario would be 100 percent hydrogen in the future that's economic.  That for example is still something that the system can't accommodate and you're not yet planning for it, in terms of even when you're replacing now pipeline?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  We don't have the standards and requirements in place right now with respect to the scenario you're asking.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if I were to ask you do you have a sense of how much -- or the incremental cost of putting in natural gas pipelines now that can accommodate, for example, 100 percent hydrogen in the future if that becomes viable, and when it becomes viable.  It sounds like you wouldn't have a real good answer to that?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's correct.  We wouldn't know at this point because we haven't developed the standards and codes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.  I would like to ask a few questions about the proposal as a whole, and my impression of the proposal is that it's -- as between being proactive and reactive, it's a reactive proposal in that it dictates how you react to certain triggers and those triggers are essentially constraints in the system, is that correct?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm not sure I can agree to that.  The reactive part of planning is to be able to look ahead and assess what future constraints might be in the plan.  But it is actually a very proactive process by definition, planning is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  It's proactive in the sense that you're actively looking for system constraints, but it's the identification system constraints is what you're reacting to?  Specific system constraints on particular parts of your system, or particular needs, or in the case of the expanding definition of system constraints, you're looking at particular facilities that are in need of replacement or relocation because of safety and other issues.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Perhaps responding is a better word than reacting in this sense, Mr. Buonaguro.  But I'm happy to defer to other panel members.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think that's fair enough.  The corollary to that is unless and until you identify a system constraint that requires a response, this plan doesn't have you doing anything other than looking for those system triggers, those system constraints.  I don't mean that in the broader sense.  I mean, that's the nature of the plan, I think.  Is that fair?

MR. STIERS:  Yes, I think that's fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The flipside of that, from my perspective, would be a more proactive plan generally which would have you looking at some of the issues that some parties have hinted at, if not specifically suggested to you might be needed which would be maybe actively moving people off gas because there is a projected demand reduction in the future that would make the system obsolete.

That would be a more proactive plan and I am just highlighting that that is not this type of plan.  This plan is not designed to attend to that forecast, if I can put it that way.

MR. STIERS:  I struggle a little bit with that again and I think it's along the similar lines as Ms. Giridhar just described.  The nature of what we've done here is set out a means by which we can look a decade forward and through OEB-approved forecasting methodologies and with the benefit of insights and input from stakeholders and intervenors such as yourselves and people in various communities around the province attempt to identify where constraints are possible, and then determine what the optimal list or optimal variety of solutions might be, and then go about setting down a path to pursue those.

So I think again it's difficult to accept the notion you're suggesting, which is that we aren't forward-looking in any way when this is entirely based on a forward forecast.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Just to add to what Mr. Stiers said, we don't see the IRP framework as a funding tool to move people off natural gas, which is the impression I'm getting from the way you framed your question.

I think that as Mr. Stiers described it, we recognize the context of energy transition, but it is really intended to address the best way we need the capacity needs of our customers,  So hopefully that distinction is helpful.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Maybe I'll put it this way.  The framework as proposed at this point in time is designed to react to system triggers, and those system triggers are really twofold; increased demand and you have to respond to it in some way, or actual existing problems with existing pipeline, either age, reliability, leaks or relocation, those are the triggers.  But it doesn't yet, and it may in the future react to declining demand generally, which is a more passive issue, and you start talking about the issue of whether you should move people off, or are doing other things.  That's not the plan yet, but I understand what you're saying.  As your demand -- as you move along through the years and looking at the forecast, if that becomes the forecast then you're going to have to do something different in the proposals, possibly.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  First of all, I prefer the word respond rather than react.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's okay.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  And secondly, I believe the demand forecasting process does get updated as the market evolves.  But perhaps I can put it back to the panel members if they wish to respond.

MS. THOMPSON:  I can add to that.  Any changes that we do see, whether they're forecasted increases or changes in customers' behaviour that may result in an increase or a decrease are reflected in the forecast, and that is incorporated in that planning cycle where we make changes to infrastructure needs and going forward to IRPA needs on an annual basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  My only point is that, let's say in two years, your seven-year forecast tells you demand is going down drastically.  This framework isn't dealing with that specifically.  You're going to have to do something else possibly, and you'll figure that out when that happens.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I believe our asset planning process would reflect that demand scenario, and take that into account with respect to future planning at that point in time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you, I'll take that.  I'm going to move on to a different topic.  One of your specific screening criteria is customer-specific builds, and I had a bit of a discussion with the panel on this in the tech conference.  


Basically, at the tech conference you confirmed, if I can put it very simply -- sorry, succinctly, that the customer-specific build exemption is intended to capture the types of projects that would be underpinned or identified using the hourly allocation factor that was approved in EB-2020-0091?  Is that sort of a concise statement, realizing that we can go back to the tech conference to get the details if you need to?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And that as an aside, I think that the bulk of the members of OGVG would have obtained gas service through that sort of process historically?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  I believe we started with that process in 2016, so I would say from that time frame, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, particularly we're talking about groups of customers, as opposed to a single customer underpinning a large project like that.  You would normally go out and do an expression of interest to sort of figure out who needs capacity and aggregate them and then propose a project based on the response to the expression of interest; is that fair?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  That's how we've done it to date, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so for example there's actually -- I know there's at least one active expression of interest.  In this case the Panhandle regional expansion project is active right now?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Subject to check --


MR. BUONAGURO:  I have a link -- yeah, I have a link to it -- I have a link to it online, so I know it's there, and you can take that subject to check, thank you.

Now, in that process, understanding that this -- your proposal is that projects that come out of that process as a -- they would become customer-specific build exception to the IRP framework.

Can you tell me what information or consultation or exchange you have or intend to have with potential customers in that process with respect to things like the forecast economic issues around commodity prices, the efficient use of energy by them, the kinds of things that you would want them to consider before committing in the case of the hourly allocation factor requirements, multi-year commitments to natural gas service to underpin a project?

And I'll ask -- I'll tell you why I asked that, because I looked online -- I think it's fair enough to say I looked online at the expression of interest, and on the face of the expression of interest that I see online in the bid -- on the bid forms, there is nothing like that.  There is no information like that.  It sounds like on its face it's a process where, do you want gas, Enbridge says, and people say, yes, we want gas, and that forms the basis of a project.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So I can speak to how we did it from my legacy Union time.  I'm assuming the processes stayed similar, so that I would have to take that back subject to check.  But what we've done is we -- when we realize that there is a group of customers who are expressing a similar need in an area, we do a broad-based, like you said, an expression of interest, but we've also engaged their gas marketers.


So for customers generally in this group, they buy their gas supply and their balancing services from a third party, and so we had meetings with those marketers to talk about what the proposal was, what the cost would look like, what the term commitments were required.  


And then they also went back, and we -- I would say it was a collaborative communication where they shared their views with the clients on gas prices, commodity outlooks, things like that, because that is their role with those customers, because they don't buy their commodity from Union Gas -- or Enbridge, sorry.

We would also have had customer meetings, so we would have annual customer meetings where we would provide outlooks on, you know, what we're seeing with carbon pricing.  We'd get updates on what we're seeing systems look like.  And that's been an annual process that we've had for many, many years, so that would be another area where we would be sharing with customers our view of commodity carbon and those things at a macro perspective [audio dropout] customers would make their decisions, so I think those processes, we're still [audio dropout] customers express their interest and then eventually contract for that forecasted demand.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you for that.  I'm touching my ear because I'm wearing earphones, and you cut out a little bit there.  I'm assuming that it wasn't just me, or it wasn't bad enough that the reporter was able to get all that.  Thank you for that --


MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Buonaguro, Mr. Buonaguro --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  -- it's Lynne Anderson here.  And I'm sorry to leave it, but I'm just, I'm looking at the transcript, and you mentioned customer-specific builds and a factor approved in -- and the transcript is showing 2020-0091, and it sort of hit me, because that's this proceeding, so I'm just trying to understand.  A factor approved in --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I may have -- sorry, it's the proceeding where Enbridge applied for approval of the system expansion surcharge and the hourly allocation factor, and if I got the EB number wrong I apologize for that.  I may have pulled it from the wrong --


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- but I appreciate -- I appreciate the clarification.  And as I mentioned when I was doing that bit of questioning, the details of that I think were handled in the technical conference, so I just --


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- want to refer back to that, but thank you for that clarification.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Just wanted to confirm, thanks.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So thank you for that.  Now, you 
did -- your answer was couched in terms of historical practice as a Union employee, right?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So it may be -- and unless someone wants to speak up about the current practice now, it might be useful to have an undertaking to confirm that that is what's happening now or what's intended to go forward as a joint entity.  I expect it is, but --


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Yeah, it's no longer my accountability or anybody's accountability on the panel, so I didn't want to speak for someone else, so we could take that and confirm that what I said was correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, is that an undertaking?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  It's then J3.5.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And for clarity, that's to confirm the, I'll call it the consultative process that goes on between Enbridge and large customers that are responding to an expression of interest with respect to future capacity projects.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Correct.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5B:  TO CONFIRM THE CONSULTATIVE PROCESS THAT GOES ON BETWEEN ENBRIDGE AND LARGE CUSTOMERS THAT ARE RESPONDING TO AN EXPRESSION OF INTEREST WITH RESPECT TO FUTURE CAPACITY PROJECTS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Thank you for that.  I would like to tiptoe around some of the cross-examination that you had, particularly from Mr. Mondrow, just before lunch with respect to particularly EB-0188, and I'll try to go quickly, because I know you had some questions on it already.

My understanding of the status quo landscape when it comes to approval of capital projects is that there's three sorts of projects.  There's the replacement/relocation projects, which don't require any particular economic analysis.  They are more sort of a generic prudence requirement, that you're doing it for good reason.  You have safety, reliability, or location at issue; is that fair?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, that's fair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Then there's the system -- I should say distribution-level system expansion projects, which are governed by EB-0188, and they basically require a financial viability threshold to be passed, which is essentially stage 1 analysis upped the DCF analysis that you're proposing in this proceeding, or close to it; is that fair?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That's fair, as well as analysis of the impacts it will have on portfolio.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.  So the financial feasibility is actually extrapolated on a portfolio basis, so there's some movement, I guess, there.  You can have some that come in under, but generally speaking, each project is supposed to be financially feasible or economically feasible.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Generally speaking, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we talk about economic feasibility in that sense.  The result is that if -- the reason that we have that test in EB-0188 is to prevent existing customers from subsidizing new customers at a high level?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  At a high level, yes, it's a measure of that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And then we have EB-0134, which applies to transmission-level projects, and that also has an economic feasibility requirement and a stage 1 analysis like to the EB-0188 requirement, and it is still initially concerned about preventing subsidy between existing customers and new customers?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I should say that's for -- also for the system expansion, but at a transmission level.  But then that particular set of -- that particular policy adds stage 2 and stage 3 analysis, which again is still trying to establish that a project isn't subsidizing -- existing customers aren't subsidizing new customers.  But ultimately, EB-0134 does recognize some level of subsidy may be appropriate -- some level of subsidy is appropriate if it does not cause a undue burden on any individual group or class.  Have I fairly summarized that?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I'm not sure if the stage 2 and stage 3 analysis would give an indication of how the cross subsidization is working.  I look at it as the stage 1 is an indication of whether or not there is a cross subsidization, not necessarily the specifics of where the dollars are coming and going.  Stage 2 and 3 then takes it and helps determine whether or not the project in total is in the public interest.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you for that.  That helps.  Now, my question -- and obviously when you first put together this IRP proposal, it was very specifically tied to analysis under both EB-0188 and EB-0134, right, in early iteration?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  It was predominantly EB-0134 this stages.  The DCF plus is, as Mr. Mondrow said it, DCF plus is very much EB 0134, with acknowledgment that EB-0188 and EB-0134 of stage 1 are pretty much the same process.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm trying to -- and let me cut to what I'm concerned about particularly.  I'm trying to figure out what happened to 188.  Is it still effective or still applicable, or has it disappeared -- and I'll give you an example.

If you had a pipeline proposal for system expansion that failed to meet EB 0188 on its own, so it was determined under EB 0188 it was to be not financially -- not economically viable.  And then you ran through stage -- first of all, would you even consider IRPA in that circumstance, a project that would be not permitted under EB-0188?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I suggest we would not -- the intent -- we are not proposing to deviate from following EB-0188 and it's requirements for project PI and rolling portfolio PI for the purposes of IRPA.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That helps quite a bit.  Just to round that out, you have a project, a system expansion project.  You run the EB 0188 analysis based on the pipeline solution, and it does not meet the requirements of EB-0188.  That is the end of the analysis, or do you go and look at an IRPA and see if that can meet Stage 1?   I'll ask 
that --


MS. GIRIDHAR:  I was going to suggest perhaps I should take this away as an undertaking, because it's he not my area of accountability.  But it is an interesting question you posed.

MR. MILLAR:  J3.6, and can you repeat the undertaking, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure, the question was -- the way in I have it in my head is where is EB-0188?  Is it gone or still applicable, and your initial answer is it's still applicable.

So the undertaking is to take away the notion or take away and look at the applicable EB-0188 in the context of IRPA proposal.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I understood, Mr. Buonaguro, you were asking the question if a pipeline alternative did not meet EB-0188 guidelines for the purpose of serving new customers, but an IRPA proposal could meet those guidelines of PI and volume portfolio, would we consider the IRPA.  My apologies if I misunderstood the question. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.6:  TO COMMENT ON THE QUESTION IF A PIPELINE ALTERNATIVE DID NOT MEET EB-0188 GUIDELINES FOR THE PURPOSE OF SERVING NEW CUSTOMERS, BUT AN IRPA PROPOSAL COULD MEET THOSE GUIDELINES OF PI AND VOLUME PORTFOLIO, WHETHER ENBRIDGE WOULD CONSIDER THE IRPA

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would love to hear the answer to that question, whether I interpreted it or not.  So we'll make that the undertaking.  That's great.

Now in looking at that, my expectation would be that you have an IRPA which is producing enough incremental revenue from new customers or new load to self-fund itself in the way EB-0188 anticipates it should.  That's the way I'm understanding it.  Is that how you understand it?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  I'm sorry, can you repeat that?  I lost you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm probably speaking too quickly.  My understanding is in that analysis, an IRPA, for it to meet EB-0188 requirements under stage 1, it would have to generate enough incremental revenue, through attachment of new customers or new load, especially with old customers, to self-fund itself in the same way a pipeline would be required to generators enough revenue to self-fund –self-funding being net present value -- or sorry, PI 1.0.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That's right. I think you're considering the specific instance where perhaps the IRPA is a lower cost solution from a stage 1 perspective than the facility, because those are the requirements of EB-0188 in that instance.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, so we have the undertaking and I'll just add that the reason I ask that question is I have the impression -- and I understand we have the original proposal and then additional evidence, and then responding evidence, and then responding evidence from Enbridge to the responding evidence.  In a tech conference, here is quite a bit of iteration.

But I was getting a sense that EB-0188 disappeared off the face of the planet.  Doesn't sound like that's true and you've given me your view on pipeline solutions and what happens when an IRPA manages to pass and still operating the same way, so thank you for that.

So I think I've got -- actually, I think I may be done.  Thank you, that cuts to the chase.  I managed to shave 5 or 10 minutes off my time, so thank you for your answers.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  So now we will move into questions from commissioners -- sorry, I did give myself a note.  I wanted to circle back with Mr. Poch.  There were some questions of Ms. Van Der Paelt about the updated notion of the working group.  Did you have any follow-up questions on that?

MR. POCH:  Between Mr. Millar's questions and what Mr. Neme is going to deal with in cross, I have no questions, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, I appreciate that.  I wanted to circle back; I promised do that.

So commissioner questions.  I will turn to Mr. Janigan.  Do you have questions?
Questions by the Board:


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, I have one area I would like to deal with, and that is the circumstance where there is a constraint and Enbridge determines that it can be met with an IRPA, and that IRPA would be provided by a competitive marketplace provider.

In that circumstance, is Enbridge the customer or the sole customer of the marketplace provider?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is an interesting question, Commissioner.  What we foresee is Enbridge procuring -- issuing an RFP and procuring the service from a market service provider.  But I don't know if Enbridge would be the sole customer of the market service provider.  It is possible that the service provider aggregates a service on behalf of customers of their own, so that is a possible scenario.  I'm not sure if that's what you were referring to.

MR. JANIGAN:  I note that Enbridge has indicated that their customary authority over performance and reliability of the system would remain, and that's why they are the ones ultimately responsible for the provision of the IRPA.  And if you've got a marketplace service provider, I would assume there would be some kind of contract between Enbridge and the provider that mandated a service level of service, and provision of rates, and that sort of Thing.

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Yes, that is correct.  To the extent that our only interface was with this market service provider, we would need contractual terms that gave us performance assurance from the market service provider, so we in turn could fulfill our obligations to our customers.

MR. JANIGAN:  Let's say in the circumstance that the provider after a couple years of providing the service craters is no longer able to provide that service.  I take it that Enbridge would at that point in time be the backstop for that provider?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That appears reasonable.  I think in terms of how we might structure the contractual relationship, we would obviously seek to have the highest level of assurance for service and also have some kind of provisions around what happens if there was a termination.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the costs associated with the contract, as I understand it, that Enbridge proposes to put those costs into rate base?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And in the event that there are costs arising from the departure of the marketplace provider from providing that and there are additional costs that are incurred, I take it it would be just a matter of the ordinary test of the prudence of the contract to begin with and Enbridge's conduct in relation to the contract and this sort of thing to determine whether or not those costs are borne by Enbridge or the provider?  Would I be correct on that?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  That would be a fair assumption.  We would seek to contract in a prudent fashion such that we cover off these particular outcomes in the language of the contract.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Those are all my questions, thanks.

MS. ANDERSON:  Ms. Frank?

MS. FRANK:  I would like to explore a little bit more an area that you've touched on with a few people, most recently with Mr. Millar, this notion of like for like treatment in terms of the financial recovery of costs, and I just want to check.  When you talk about an infrastructure project, the capital aspect of it does go into rate base, but the operating costs associated with it goes into the yearly OM&A.  Do I have that correct?

MR. STIERS:  I can clarify, yes, that's correct, and that's our intent here as well.  Administrative costs would be expensed as O&M, as would the O&M costs.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  But in this case when we go to a -- certainly if we went to a non-build alternative supply or whatever alternative, if there was a physical asset, then it's not difficult to see how you would want to have that capitalized, but when there is no physical asset and it is an annual, just like Mr. Janigan was just discussing, if there is annual type cost, you still want those capitalized, and that's the deviation from normal treatment.  Do I have that correct --


MR. STIERS:  That's correct, Commissioner, yes.  What we're seeking is to capitalize as rate base regardless of the nature of the IRPA costs, so both annual O&M and capital IRPA costs will be capitalized to rate base.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Then let's go to a different category, the DSM.  So current DSM treatments that -- you know, that you've been in this business for a long time.  Is there any capitalization that happens currently with the DSM initiatives that you have?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  No, Commissioner.  The DSM budget is entirely separate, and it is only an O&M budget.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  So now when we come to a geographically specific DSM whose purpose is to actually reduce the demand in a geographic area and therefore not need the infrastructure build, what's the financial treatment you're proposing for that DSM?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We're proposing that geo-targeted DSM as you've described would be an IRPA and would be handled outside of the DSM budget with separate funding and would be capitalized.

MS. FRANK:  So the notion of treating it like -- the like for like treatment on DSM and getting an incentive, you've dismissed that.  That's not viable for you?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So the current DSM budget is really designed for broad-based DSM, and there is no peak metrics.  In fact, even the equipment and what we incent isn't measured.  It's measured based on the annual savings that something can do versus the peak.  So if we started to geo-target within that budget and within that constraint, we would start driving a different agenda than the primary objective of the DSM budget, which is annual energy efficiency savings and lower bills for consumers.  So we see broad-based as being very applicable within the DSM budget.

You know, we can maybe focus on certain types of equipment that could help.  But in a geo-targeted basis we see that as a -- although the program and the actual measure would be similar, the incentive we offer, where we focus it, that would be very much focused on an area specific to peak production for a replacement of a pipeline, and we see that as being an IRPA, and it would not be part of our DSM incentive, it would not be part of our DSM budget.

MS. FRANK:  And you don't see a separate program, the geo-targeted DSM program, as being able to follow a like for like treatment, meaning that you get the cost recovery OM&A and you get an incentive.  I understand it's separate and for different purpose, but I'm just wondering, could it have the same financial treatment?

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We think it should follow the same statement treatment as the other IRPAs to be consistent with the objective of eliminating a capital project.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Then my last question goes to time frame for these capital projects.  Would you see the time frame being very specific to the alternative that's being proposed and how long that's going to live, or is the time frame more associated with the infrastructure build?  How long would you amortize this asset over, or these various assets?

MR. STIERS:  So I can offer a thought, and others may wish to add, Commissioner.  I think IRPA project costs will be amortized over the useful life of each of the individual IRPAs that are considered.  We propose to evaluate amortization periods for each IRPA on a project-specific basis going forward.

MS. FRANK:  So could it be that if you saw some of the alternatives being proposed as a way to -- and we think earlier we've talked about delaying the infrastructure build, giving you more time for certainty on what the outlook might be for an area, so it might be relatively short, that the alternative, like, five years, that's what you're looking for, is the IRPA, just a short intro, let me get my -- a better understanding of the future outlook.

Could you see that being a really short period of amortization like that five years?

MR. STIERS:  I think the examples that you're referring to, if I understood correctly, have been termed bridging solutions and are typically -- thus far have been described as commercial market-based services, and, yes, I think in those instances perhaps we would look at that shortened amortization period for such alternatives, but again, we would have to look at it and bring a proposal forward as to what we thought was most appropriate at that point in time.

MS. FRANK:  You're correct in what I was referring to, the bridging opportunities.

And it sounds then in terms of this treatment of capital and period of amortization, the framework can't go too far on this, because it sounds like each opportunity may require different considerations; is that fair?

MR. STIERS:  I think that is fair.  I think what we've tried do is give some high-level idea of where we're headed and what our thoughts are in these regards with regard to accounting treatment specifically, but we have been adamant throughout testimony over the course of the technical conference and this hearing to say that we do think that it is appropriate for us to bring forward proposals on accounting treatment at the time that we bring an IRPA application forward, because we do think that there is still work to be done to figure this all out and get the Board's endorsement of our proposals.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  And I know that you're going to do clarity when you do your final submission in terms of what you want the framework to do in this regard.  Okay.  So thank you for your responses.

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, I guess that bridges a little bit to the question that I'll try and frame appropriately.  And I just wanted to explore a bit of the difference between regulatory accounting and financial accounting.  And so I've heard Enbridge referring to that we would capitalize something to rate base, and I know that Enbridge is on U.S. accounting standards, U.S. GAAP.  We have -- the vast majority of the utilities that we regulate are on international financial reporting, or IFRS.  And we have scenarios under IFRS where something is added to rate base but is not permitted to be capitalized on the financial statements.  So the audited financial statements don't reflect something as an asset, but they are in the rate base.

And so I just, I wanted to explore from your perspective, I guess, the implications if something had a rate base like treatment, but wasn't specifically deemed an asset that would become part of your audited financial statements as an asset.  Are there implications of that?  Can you provide some comment about a scenario like that, much like we see on the electricity side for the vast majority?

MS. GIRIDHAR:  Madam Chair, I'm thinking this might be best addressed through an undertaking.  I don't know that any of us are able to answer an accounting question like that.

MS. ANDERSON:  I would appreciate that.  It's getting to the heart of the difference between, as I think you mentioned, regulatory accounting versus financial accounting.  I think we have indicated generally alignment is good, but is not necessarily required.

So I just wanted to get an understanding of the implications of those things not being aligned.

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, the undertaking will be J3.7.  And as I have a rare opportunity to put you on the spot, could I ask you to give the 12-word summary of the undertaking?

MS. ANDERSON:  For Enbridge to provide the implications of different treatment of IRPAs between regulatory accounting and financial accounting, specifically with respect to something that's rate Base, but not an asset on the financial statements.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Is that clear?

MR. MILLAR:  Clear to me.  
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.7:  ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE THE IMPLICATIONS OF DIFFERENT TREATMENT OF IRPAS BETWEEN REGULATORY ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING, SPECIFICALLY WITH RESPECT TO SOMETHING THAT'S RATE BASE, BUT NOT AN ASSET ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Yes, a non-accountant asking the question and asking a non-accountants, so I appreciate the undertaking.

So that is my only question; fortunately, all the rest of mine got asked.  Mr. Stevens, is there redirect for this panel?

MR. STEVENS:  There is no redirect for this panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  I definitely appreciate your time and the very, very full almost two complete days you've had with us, so we will excuse you and we will take our break.

Mr. Stevens how much time do you need to get ICF set up?  Is the regular break time sufficient?

MR. STEVENS:  The regular break time will be sufficient.

MS. ANDERSON:  We're 3 o'clock.  Is 3:15 sufficient?

MR. STEVENS:  Flipping through the screens, but the last I looked, Mr. Sloan and Mr. Dikeos appear to be listening in, so I will say yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, so we'll come back at 3:15.
--- Recess taken at 2:59 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:16 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Let me see that my panels are back, yes, and I see we have some witnesses.  Good.  And I have Mr. Stevens.  All good.

So Mr. Stevens, can you please introduce the witnesses.

MR. STEVENS:  I shall, thank you.  Enbridge Gas's third witness panel is comprised of two representatives from ICF.  The members of the panel are Michael Sloan, managing director, natural gas and liquids advisory services, and John Dikeos, senior manager.

Mr. Sloan and Mr. Dikeos appeared together and answered questions at the technical conference, and their CVs were filed in advance of that appearance.  Their CVs set out the range of education and experience for both witnesses relevant to their expertise, as well as facts and details about how they've provided expert oral or written testimony to energy regulators across Canada and in the United States.

Enbridge Gas proposes to have Mr. Sloan and Mr. Dikeos qualified as experts in natural gas system planning, including non-pipes alternatives and IRP, for the purpose of their testimony today.  I understand there are no objections, but I'm in the Panel's hands as to whether you would like me to go through their qualifications after they're affirmed.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  I just want to confirm there are no objections to the qualifying the two men as experts in this proceeding?  And I'm seeing none, so we don't see the need.  We've seen the CVs, so we don't see the need for you to go in any greater detail, so they are indeed qualified as expert witnesses here.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  And -- oh -- sorry, would you like further introductions or do we need to affirm them?

MR. STEVENS:  I think -- I was waiting for them to be affirmed, and then we'll proceed, thank you.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 3
Michael Sloan,

John Dikeos; Affirmed.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Stevens:

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  I have just a few brief questions in examination in-chief, and I'd like to start with a couple questions about the two reports that ICF has filed for this proceeding.

The first report is called "Natural Gas Integrated Resource Planning:  Initial Assessment of the Potential to Employ Targeted DSM To Influence Future Natural Gas Infrastructure Investment."  Mr. Sloan and Mr. Dikeos, can you confirm that you are the authors of this report?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes.

MR. DIKEOS:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And Mr. Dikeos, when was the report prepared?

MR. DIKEOS:  It was -- we initially started the study in late 2016 and completed it in 2018.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And Mr. Sloan, can you briefly describe why this report was prepared?

MR. SLOAN:  At a high level the study was prepared to help address questions raised by the Board in earlier proceedings about whether or not DSM and energy efficiency could provide effective alternatives to utility pipeline infrastructure projects.  More specifically, the utilities -- and at this point there were two -- were looking for insight into how and when targeted DSM and energy efficiency could be used to offset the need for new pipeline infrastructure and what the challenges would be associated with that type of effort.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And staying at a high level, can you summarize the results or the findings in the 2018 study?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes.  The 2018 report, we focused on the ability for energy efficiency and demand-side management to reduce peak demand in a targeted region in order to delay or avoid new infrastructure investments, so a different perspective than the traditional DSM, which would have been annual impacts.

The economic analysis that we conducted was based on the existing facilities investment standards and focused on the direct utility costs of implementing DSM as an alternative to investment in new infrastructure.  We determined that IRP could be an effective way to offset some infrastructure investments, but we also determined that it would be challenging to replace many infrastructure projects using targeted DSM or energy efficiency from a technical and economic risk and a time frame perspective.

We also identified significant number of areas where limited knowledge and data would impact the ability to rely on IRPA to offset the need for infrastructure, and we recommended pilot programs and other approaches to address these limitations.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And you filed a second report, titled "IRP Jurisdictional Review Report", and again, can you each please confirm that you're the authors of that second report?

MR. SLOAN:  Yes.

MR. DIKEOS:  Yes.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And when was it prepared?

MR. DIKEOS:  It was prepared in the fall of 2020.

MR. STEVENS:  And briefly, can you describe why it was prepared or what's the purpose of the report?

MR. SLOAN:  Yeah, absolutely.  As part of the earlier project we found that the gas industry had very limited experience using DSM and other demand-side programs to offset the need for specific pipeline infrastructure projects, and then for that matter there were very limited experience with any non-pipe alternatives or non-pipe solutions going broader than just DSM to offset the need for pipeline infrastructure projects.

The 2020 report was developed in order to update the conclusions presented in that 2018 report and to provide a more up-to-date assessment of the status of non-pipeline alternatives efforts within the broader natural gas industry, and also to evaluate non-pipeline alternatives or IRPAs that were really focused and located only in a couple jurisdictions.

We also wanted to compare and contrast Ontario and New York, because New York is where most of the activity in IRPAs has been located.  We wanted to understand the differences and the drivers and the barriers to implementation of IRPA in each jurisdiction.

So we looked at the differences between the electric and gas industries also, since the non-wires alternative has been well ahead of the non-pipeline alternative, both in New York and, more broadly, across the industry.

MR. STEVENS:  And beyond what you've sort of told me about the scope, are there any of the sort of high-level results from the study that you'd like to highlight?

MR. SLOAN:  Well, there wasn't really much progress outside of the state of New York made in advance in non-pipeline alternatives or IRPAs in the natural gas industry in the two to three years since we completed the 2018 study.

Outside of New York State there was only a couple jurisdictions that had made any progress at all in using these types of programs to target infrastructure replacement.  So, you know, Northwest Natural in Oregon has done a relevant pilot program.  There are a couple of other utilities that have looked at the issue, and some utilities that have started to collect data that they thought would be useful, but very little effort or progress made outside of New York.

The situation is a bit different in New York.  The natural gas distribution companies and regulators have made, I would call it a significant amount of progress in developing frameworks and advancing the discussion on non-pipes alternatives, although they haven't yet implemented programs that have resulted in actual significant reductions in infrastructure investments.

Overall we found that IRPA activity is still really limited, and where it is occurring it's small-scale, and we can talk about what small-scale means for Con Edison in New York, which is a little different than small-scale in other places, but it's still in pilot programs, and it's still not being effectively offered as an alternative infrastructure project, so it's still in the pilot stage even in New York.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And you've talked a lot about New York.  Can you just describe very briefly in your view, why are we seeing development in New York?  Why is New York leading the pack, in terms of IRP development or IRP examination?

MR. SLOAN:  Well, New York, there are really two fundamental drivers that are specific to the New York natural gas markets.  

The first is the challenges related to building pipeline infrastructure.  Now, they've been on an aggressive conversion program pushing people off fuel oil and onto natural gas.  At the same time, it's been very, very hard to build new infrastructure, new pipeline transmission capacity into the state and to the city gates.

So they're trying to find alternatives to pipeline transmission infrastructure into the city gate, and in certain areas behind the city gate as well.

The second is cost.  New York is a very expensive jurisdiction.  Gas prices, gas infrastructure builds is much more expensive than most places in the United States.  And so that makes non-pipeline solutions, IRPAs, more economic.  But it's more feasible to do that from a cost perspective without increasing rates to the consumers, and the combination along with a number of other factors that would go into the report has set the stage for much more aggressive consideration of IRPAs in New York than in other jurisdictions.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Through I think the evidence filed in this proceeding, we've seen discussion of the fact that the electric industry accepts to be ahead of the gas industry with non-wires alternatives, as compared to where the gas industry is with non-pipeline alternatives or IRPAs.

Can you briefly touch on why you believe that to be the case, or what's led to that being the case?

MR. SLOAN:  Absolutely.  We do go into that in more detail in the 2020 report, but there are a number of drivers.  The first is cost, and on a per-unit basis it's a lot more expensive to bring electricity into a jurisdiction.  The infrastructure is more expensive, and the economic incentives are higher for non-wire alternatives than for non-pipeline solutions.

And that's a generalization.  Specific projects have different economics on both the electric side and on the natural gas side.  But as a general rule, it's more expensive.

They also have a lot better data.  They have meters that they can look at that tell them exactly what's happening at the customer location, so they can see how demand is changing from instant to instant.  And that's helpful when you're designing programs to avoid building new electric infrastructure.

And finally and related, the demand on the electric grid is driven by instantaneous demand.  So you only have to trim a few minutes of demand, of coincident demand in order to have an impact on the infrastructure.  And it's cheaper to do that than try and trim or displace a demand for an hour or for 24 hours, like you would need do for a gas infrastructure.

In fact, New York is talking about trying to reduce natural gas demand for three days, 72 hours under certain circumstances as a non-pipe alternative.  So the very short time frame you need in order to lop off the electric demand makes for a more tenable project.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  And finally, I would like to you ask you to adopt your written and oral testimony to date.  But before doing that, I understand you have a couple brief corrections to make to the materials that have been filed or spoken to.

MR. SLOAN:  We do, thank you.  During the review of our evidence earlier this week, we identified a potentially confusing exhibit where some of the numbers were wrong, or misleading in our 2020 evidence that we need to revise.

And I also want to clarify one misstatement that I made in the technical conference.  In the 2020 report --


MR. STEVENS:  If I can stop you there.   I did circulate to the parties, not to the panel members, the corrections to the pages and I think they speak for themselves, and we will file the updated version.

If people have questions, they can ask you about it.  But I don't propose to spend time going through those, if you want to turn to talking about your testimony at the technical conference.

MR. SLOAN:  Absolutely.  During the technical conference, I said that Enbridge and Union Gas selected ICF to conduct the 2018 study without going through a competitive RFP process.

I was incorrect.  I think I was on vacation when the RFP was issued, and I didn't have to go through the pain of preparing the proposal for that.  But ICF was selected to support the two utilities after a full RFP process was completed by the utilities.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you for that.  With that, subject to the corrections you've just mentioned, Mr. Dikeos and Mr. Sloan, do you adopt your reports, your technical conference testimony and your written responses to undertakings and interrogatories as your evidence for the purpose of this proceeding?

MR. SLOAN:  I do, yes.

MR. STEVENS:  And do you confirm the accuracy, to the best of your knowledge?

MR. SLOAN:   Yes.

MR. DIKEOS:  I do as well.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much.  The witnesses are ready for cross-examination.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Poch, I see your camera came on, so I assume you're the one speaking on behalf of GEC and Anwaatin.  That's correct?

MR. POCH:  That's correct, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, you can proceed.

MR. POCH:  I should be fairly brief.  Gentlemen, you just mentioned with respect to your 2018 report on the potential for energy efficiency through respond to peak demand and needs, focused on direct utility costs.  Can you tell us what test was used, what cost benefit tests were used in that study?

MR. SLOAN:  Well, the test that was used -- and I wouldn't characterize it as a test.  We used costs comparable to what was used in the infrastructure review process.

MR. POCH:  So that would be analogous to the stage 1 test that Enbridge is proposing in this proceeding from a utility cost perspective.  They would have captured, for example, customer specific savings; is that fair?

MR. SLOAN:  They did not capture either customer specific costs or customer specific savings, that's correct.

MR. POCH:  So more analogous to the utility cost test than the test we were talking in terms of DSM tests?

MR. SLOAN:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  And I take it -- what carbon costs were included in that, if any?

MR. SLOAN:  Since carbon costs were not included in the utility costs, we did not include the carbon costs, any carbon costs in the analysis at that time.

MR. POCH:  All right.  Can I -- I know Guidehouse has posited that that would -- in capturing those costs at least announced to accelerate up to 170 dollars a tonne by 2030 will significantly change the number of -- the extent of options available that are cost-effective.

Would you agree with that?  I can't ask you to quantify it to today, but just directionally?

MR. SLOAN:  Well, it depends how you're evaluating the programs and if you're evaluating them strictly on an infrastructure basis, then you're evaluating their impact on a design day, and there is not a significant impact at all from the carbon tax.

And even when you move into a total resource cost test, it is going to be quite different depending on the type of IRPA that you're talking about.  So a demand response program for example would have almost no impact from a carbon tax.  So it depends on what the IRPA would be and the test that you're using to evaluate it.

MR. POCH:  Back to our discussion a moment ago, the carbon tax would be invisible, if you will, in a utility cost test approach which is analogous to the test, the broader cost benefit capture like in the TRC, then the carbon tax would have that impact.

Do I take it in that scenario then, you're agree it would obviously change the extent of options that are cost-effective?

MR. SLOAN:  I agree the total resource cost test changes the approach that you're looking at.  Whether it affects the results when you add carbon into the total resource cost test depend on what type of IRPA you're evaluating.

MR. POCH:  I was thinking specifically of energy efficiency options.

MR. SLOAN:  Again, energy efficiency options focused on a design day would be different than energy efficiency options that are annual, and because IRPA is focused on the design day, you would expect the impact to perhaps be less than it would be on an annual energy efficiency program --


MR. POCH:  So for measures, for example, that are heating-related, where they would be in effect throughout much of the year, at least the heating year, that would be a more significant factor, whereas ones targeted at -- very time-limited to deal with the peak day, it would be less -- less of an impact.  Is that what you're saying?  Have I got that right?

MR. SLOAN:  At a total resource cost, yes, that's correct.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  And, now, have either of you gentlemen worked directly for a utility on a, either a non-wires or a non-pipe project, where you were evaluating options to either avoid or defer infrastructure and doing cost-effectiveness analyses --


MR. SLOAN:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  -- I kind of assume you have been.

MR. SLOAN:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Mr. Dikeos?

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, I need to just hear one person speaking at a time.

MR. SLOAN:  This is Mr. Sloan, and my answer is yes.

THE REPORTER:  I just didn't get the end of what Mr. Poch said because you spoke on top of --


MR. SLOAN:  My apologies.

MR. POCH:  I was just asking if they'd been involved in such projects, both evaluating options to avoid or defer infrastructure and doing cost-effective analysis.

MR. DIKEOS:  And the answer is yes -- sorry, the answer is yes for me as well.

MR. POCH:  Can you tell us typically what tests have been used in those analyses?

MR. SLOAN:  I think that the tests have typically been a variation of a utility cost test and a rate impact test and either a TRC or societal cost test, so you think of it as the DCF or DCF plus, that stage 3.  You know, it's not exactly the same, but the concepts are pretty similar.  But, you know, those are the standard perspectives that utilities would look at from those perspective.  The cost perspective is almost always an important test.

MR. POCH:  So typically -- you've listed those tests.  That's fine.  Mr. Dikeos, you agree that's been your experience typically, the UCT or the RIM or the TRC or the societal cost test; is that correct?

MR. DIKEOS:  Yeah, that's been my experience as 
well –


[Multiple speakers]


MR. POCH:  [inaudible]


MR. DIKEOS:  -- or a --


MR. POCH:  -- several tests.

THE REPORTER:  I'm sorry, one at a time, please.

MR. POCH:  Right.  My apologies.  That's my fault.  I was just asking, typically more than one test would be applied?

MR. DIKEOS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. POCH:  And I have question for -- on behalf of Ms. DeMarco.  Are you aware of other jurisdictions that consider carbon costs or forecast carbon costs in IRP, whether gas or electric?

MR. SLOAN:  In IRP?  I'm afraid I'm going to have to ask you to define what you mean by IRP.  I --


MR. POCH:  Fair enough.  I was afraid of that.  Let's reword that to the way I worded it earlier. In evaluating options to avoid or defer infrastructure to investment in alternative approaches.

MR. SLOAN:  Well, since there have been very limited evaluations where the projects have gone forward, it's a little bit hard to say.  The environmental benefits are included in tests that have been done in New York, and, you know, they are not included in all of the tests, but they're included in some of the tests that are being evaluated.

MR. POCH:  And I wasn't limiting this to gas situations, but electricity situations as well?  Are you aware of any jurisdictions where carbon costs or forecast carbon costs are captured in their analyses when they do these types of -- this type of planning?

MR. SLOAN:  I've not worked with an electric utility to implement non-wires alternatives.  When ICF gets asked, we have other experts that do that.  The non-wires alternatives tests that I've seen often include a TRC type of assessment or a societal cost type of assessment, which should include a carbon tax assessment.  I'm not aware of any non-wires alternatives, either yes or no, where the carbon value drove the decision to implement the non-wires alternatives.

MR. POCH:  She did ask me to ask about whether any examples through consideration of low carbon fuel credits, which I understand are more at play in America right now.  I don't know if you can answer that or not, given what you've just said, but I'll put it to you anyway.

MR. SLOAN:  In terms of a non-pipeline solution, an IRPA, I have never heard of anybody consider that, and I would be somewhat surprised if it has been explicitly considered.  It is a factor in how RNG is valued, but the way that the question has been phrased, you'd almost have to separate out the environmental attributes from the RNG and sell those separately.  I can envision a model where you would do that as a non-pipeline solution, but I'm not sure that it's going to make sense for the utility that would be using RNG as a non-pipeline solution in their service territory to then sell off the low carbon fuel credits.

MR. POCH:  Thank you.  Moving on then, you filed a clarification -- corrections to your evidence there, three pages where there are some changes, and --


MR. SLOAN:  I think it's two pages.  I think it's actually a page and a half, but the red line stretched on to another page.

MR. POCH:  Yes.  Just some formatting.  No, I didn't want to inflate your mistakes here --


MR. SLOAN:  Thank you.  That's important.

MR. POCH:  No, but on what is, I think, now page 48 of the corrected version of your report, you offer some comparisons, and I think you've already spoken to this today, about how -- indeed, how expensive gas and electricity are in New York, and included in that you included some data for Toronto as indicative of the Ontario situation.  And I noticed that, for example, you have natural gas in the residential setting at 10.8, you've got it as dollars per gigajoule, and electricity at 38.6.

Can you just tell me -- and I think your footnote indicates those are 2019 and 2020 figures.  Did they -- would those figures have included anything for carbon?

MR. DIKEOS:  I can speak to that one.  So those figures include current carbon costs or carbon costs as of when the figures were collected, so at the time they would include the 30 dollar per tonne carbon fee.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Thank you.  And can you -- is it possible for you to tell us how those figures would change?  And this might require an undertaking.  I don't need you to do math on the spot.  If the carbon cost was captured, an increase to 170 dollars a tonne?

MR. SLOAN:  We're not talking about my normal units, so I would rather take an undertaking, rather than try to do the conversion for you.

MR. POCH:  Of course.  And I just need those for the Toronto residential and commercial -- you don't need to do it for the New York ones, unless it's of assistance -- unless you think it would be of assistance.  Can I get a number for that?

MR. STEVENS:  I'm sure, Mr. Poch, that the math can be done.  I'm having difficulty understanding how it would be meaningful.  I mean, if we're talking about this new price for carbon, as I understand it, even if the federal proposal passes, that's 10 years into the future, whereas all these other numbers that we're looking at on this table are relatively current numbers.

MR. POCH:  Yes, I'm not asking to make a comparison with New York.  I'm asking because there's a lot of discussion about whether or not the virtue of asking Enbridge to do scenario analysis or quantify risks of significant changes in costs affecting demand or effecting cost-effectiveness alternatives amongst Mr. Elson and others, and this would seem to inform that discussion and puts some real data on the table --


MR. STEVENS:  Without impugning to the relevance, I don't know how you might propose to use it.  I'm sure the math can be done so we can offer the undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J3.8.  Can Mr. Poch give us the summary, please. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.8:  TO PROVIDE COMPARABLE FIGURES TO THOSE FOR TORONTO DOLLARS PER GIGAJOULE FOR GAS AND ELECTRICITY AS THEY APPEAR ON PAGE 48 OF THE UPDATED REPORT FROM ICF, TO UPDATE THOSE FIGURES ASSUMING 170 DOLLARS PER TONNE COST OF CARBON

MR. POCH:  That would be to provide comparable figures to those for Toronto dollars per gigajoule for gas and electricity as they appear on page 48 of the updated report from ICF, to update those figures assuming 170 dollars per tonne cost of carbon.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, and those are all my questions.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Mr. Brophy, I believe.

MR. BROPHY:  Can you hear me?

MR. SLOAN:  I can.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:


MR. BROPHY:  Super.  Why don't I jump in then, if that's okay.  Great to see the panel again.

Before I jump into my questions, I just heard some of the updates you gave at the beginning, and there was one small adjustment you had to your testimony during the technical conference, just indicating that there was an RFP.  That was for both reports, or just one?

MR. SLOAN:  John, do you want to address that question?

MR. DIKEOS:  Sure.  There was a formal RFP for the first report, for the 2018 study.  The second report, there was none.  So that was based on the experience that we had gained up until then working for Enbridge.

MR. BROPHY:  Super.  Thank you for that.  Jumping to the first question, you probably don't have to pull it up, but it's your response to JT3.6.

In that, you provided information on the central Hudson non-pipelines alternative, which you're probably very familiar with.  And then the report indicates -- so you filed a copy of that annual report, and the report indicates Central Hudson reports annually on its IRPA projects, is that correct?  It was called an annual report and I think it said it reports annually in that report.  I just want to validate that.

MR. SLOAN:  That's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  Do you know if that annual reporting for IRP, is that done in rate case proceeding, or is that done as something separate annually?

MR. SLOAN:  To the best of my knowledge, it's a report that's filed independent of other proceedings.  So it would be a follow-on to the proceeding that they agreed to file the reports.  But to the best of my knowledge, it's not associated with anything else.

MR. BROPHY:  So it's separate from the rate case, it sounds like.  But maybe in the rate case, people would ask questions about it, I guess, if they had any?

MR. SLOAN:  I've not seen or gone through their rate case process, so I can speculate.  I would speculate people could, but I don't know.

MR. BROPHY:  That's fair enough.  I think it was just really to understand that it's an annual process and it either feeds into things they have already at the regulator on an annual basis or something separate.  So that's fine.

I don't know if you've been kind of participating or keeping track as we've going through the week, but you may know the ICF report initially was interpreted by some stakeholders as suggesting that there were little to no relevant examples of best practices to help guide IRP in Ontario.  And I know we certainly heard an earful from stakeholders on that and ended up submitting some things to give additional examples.  I know it wasn't exhaustive, but was meant to help.

So over the course of the proceeding this week, I think we've learned that there are lots of examples out there, not just gas ones, but probably more the electric side, as you've said, maybe a few on the gas side.  And then there's best practices to draw from.

So I just wanted to ask you if you can confirm that if a party was to get the impression from your report that there were not examples of best practices to draw from, that they shouldn't be reaching that conclusion.  Is that accurate?

MR. SLOAN:  I don't think we've ever said that people aren't thinking about this and talking about this.  I think it's clear from the evidence that's out there that there has not been a great deal of activity in the natural gas industry on these types of programs, and that activity has not been effective to any significant degree in reducing infrastructure investment.

So in terms of guidelines and principles, you can certainly draw really useful principles from different places.  They are good guidelines.   The Con Edison BCA handbook is really quite useful and is something that anybody that's thinking about non-pipeline solution or IRPA should consider when they're doing that.

So I've never said, we've never said there isn't activity or people aren't thinking about it, or people aren't trying to put together useful structures and plans for this.  But the on-the-round impact of where you can point at an IRPA that actually avoided an infrastructure project is really, really small.

You mentioned Central Hudson and they've -- I'm not even sure I would call that an IRPA, because what they did was avoided rebuilding a lateral that served two or three customers, two or three customers -- that's an infrastructure that's been avoided.

MR. BROPHY:  I could go into all the weeds of the projects, but I don't think --


MR. SLOAN:  I would be happy to go into the weeds of the projects with you.

MR. BROPHY:  When you look at frameworks and you mentioned a few from the gas side alone and other ones from electric as well, but extracting best practices, I think it's fair to say that there's many -- probably easily over a dozen in North America that we can list off, including Enbridge's has come around this week and even started adopting some of the IESO electricity practices now, like stakeholder engagement and those things.

So would it be fair to say with that activity going on, irregardless of the outcomes, because I agree it's fairly new, is it greater than a dozen utilities looking at this?  I'm assuming there's probably a hundred utilities in North America.  I haven't counted them, but would it be fair to say that?  Or do you think it's less than a dozen?

MR. SLOAN:  Let's be specific.  Are you talking about non-wires alternatives or non-pipeline alternatives, or the combination of the two?

MR. BROPHY:  I'm talking about the broader integrated resource planning level, which allows a broader set of options including those things, but not limited to those things you just talked about.

MR. SLOAN:  If we look at the broader integrated resource process -- and there's a definitional thing here that I didn't really want to get into.  But if we're talking about numbers, you have to.  There are at least four different IRP models and the ones that have been the most active aren't focused on IRPA options; they're not focused on non-pipeline alternatives.

If you look at most of the IRPs, and there are well over a dozen IRPs -- a dozen in the gas industry?  Yeah, probably.  But most are not focused on IRPA types of activities, so if we're looking at non-pipeline alternatives, the utilities in New York are active in that area.

There are 11 utilities in New York.  I don't recall if all of them have filed a non-pipeline alternative filing or not, but the New York Public Service Commission is certainly active, and they want their major utilities to be looking at and developing IRP -- or, excuse me, not -- I'm getting my own terminology mixed up, but they're asking their utilities to look at the non-pipeline alternatives.

So, you know, if we add up all the New York utilities and add up Ontario and add up the other utilities that, you know, have looked at it or starting to think about it, maybe doing some -- or thinking about -- so I will say it's more than a dozen.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Yeah, and if -- well, if it's a dozen between kind of Canada and New York, it's probably far above a dozen, but let's say more than a --


MR. SLOAN:  It's not far above a dozen.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I think you mentioned this -- or earlier today the fact that this morning it was brought to our attention that ICF made updates to their IRP jurisdictional review report recently.  I think what was -- I haven't had a chance, to be honest.  I just got it this morning, so I just quickly skimmed it, but it looks like it was dated March, I think 2nd or something, so basically, it sounds like the updates have been made in the last week.  Is that accurate?

MR. SLOAN:  It was made -- we finished the results late last night and submitted them this morning.  It's only the pages that we were talking about at the beginning of your cross.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay --


MR. SLOAN:  So it's only the cost -- actually, excuse me.  I am confusing the cross.  And we'll go back, and it was the subject of Mr. Poch's cross.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So from my just quick review -- and I'm not going to go into the table or any of the things I think that David Poch went into, but when I looked at some of the updates to numbers, it was changing, some from a 2018 number to a 2019, like, more -- more recent information, I guess, than was available when you put the initial report together.

Is that some of the updates that is just more recent information?

MR. SLOAN:  No.  That was not the intent of the update.  There was a data point in the old report that was 2018 that when we fixed an error it got changed to 2019, so it was consistent, but the error was a juxtaposition of New York state natural gas prices and New York City electric prices, so that we had an inappropriate comparison, which we fixed in the update.

MR. BROPHY:  So are you planning to have a whole new report or basically what, you know, the couple of pages that were sent to us this morning, that that's basically it, or is there a whole new report that's been done and --


MR. STEVENS:  I can speak to that, Michael.  Enbridge will be refiling the report with the corrected pages that have been circulated.  There will be no other changes.

MR. SLOAN:  That's my understanding as well, yes, and there is no reason to change anything else in the report.

MR. BROPHY:  Yeah, I guess, you know, one of the challenges when I saw it this morning is we basically only have a day left unless the Board Panel wants to extend this process, and I'd be surprised if Enbridge were to support that kind of process where we get another, you know, shot at filing evidence and going through it all again, but, you know, it just seemed odd at this late a stage that new evidence was being submitted that didn't have a chance to even go through or --


MR. STEVENS:  To be fair, Mr. Brophy, I don't think we would categorize this as new evidence.  I think the witnesses in preparing for their testimony today, as they said, identified a couple of discrete errors in what they'd filed, and rather than just leaving it as is, they thought it was responsible to update it.  We've done that.  We submitted the materials.  You've heard from the witnesses it doesn't change any of the conclusions in their report.  If on reviewing it you determine that there's questions that you should have asked that you didn't, then I suppose we will consider those in writing.  We're not trying to shut anybody down, but we don't see this as being any sort of step that's taking away parties' rights or changing evidence in any sort of meaningful way.

MR. BROPHY:  Well, you know, as the panel just mentioned, when they were doing some updates they also updated to more recent information, and I think as we all know, there's new information related to IRP that's coming out on a weekly basis, and, you know, we've held back in filing any of that because we didn't think it was fair to Enbridge or other parties to start filing new materials this late in the process.

So I guess our advice is that, you know, it doesn't get filed, we go with the original report, and to the extent that the panel wanted to ascribe some of the things that they had in error, that maybe that's the more appropriate way, because, you know, we'd certainly be open to the opportunity to start filing updated information that wasn't available, you know, several months ago.

MR. SLOAN:  There is nothing in the update that was not available previously.  My team and I made an error, and we fixed that, and we put together a consistent exhibit, because we didn't want to leave an incorrect impression with the numbers that were not consistent.  So it was important for consistency.  But it's not new data, it's not -- it's historical data that was available when we prepared the report.  We made a mistake in the calculation, and we fixed it.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Is it possible that there might be other mistakes in that report that you haven't found yet?

MR. SLOAN:  I think in any document that has ever appeared before this Board, it's possible that there are mistakes or errors that were not corrected.  So in that sense, I can't say with absolute certainty that there are no errors or mistakes, but I will say that, you know, this was an error that nobody at the technical conference found, nobody raised any questions about.  We're bringing it forward to you because I thought that there was a chance that somebody might be misled a little bit by the original exhibit, and I didn't want to take that chance.  I wanted my evidence to be accurate, to the best of my knowledge, and clean, and not risk the possibility that somebody would draw the wrong conclusion from it or repeat my error and use the numbers that we had provided someplace else.

So to the best of my knowledge there aren't any other errors in the report.  Is it possible that there's something?  I suppose it is, that something that -- unfortunately, I wish I could rule it out, but there's always a possibility that there's something else that is not perfect in the report.

MR. BROPHY:  Well, I guess our recommendation is that it not be filed.  We're at the mercy of the Panel in deciding whether it makes sense at this late stage to be filing those materials, but I think on that I'll finish.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Mr. Brophy, I'm not quite understanding.  Are you saying that you're suggesting that ICF should not file a correction of a known error?

MR. BROPHY:  We're saying that if there was corrections that needed to be addressed, doing it at this late juncture doesn't provide time to even read -- I haven't even read the document front to end, let alone be able to ask questions about it, so -- and then I think we also heard that there were some updates based on, you know, this 2018 data.  You can see that 2018 is crossed out, 2019 is now added.  Just so happens it supports Enbridge's position ever change this, and done in that --


MR. SLOAN:  Actually, I don't think that it does, Mr. Brophy.  You haven't look at the numbers very carefully.  It doesn't change very much one way or the other, but it's an equal-opportunity error correction.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Sloan, are there any other errors in the document that you're aware of that you did not correct?

MR. SLOAN:  There are no other errors in the document that I'm aware of.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think the panel would feel having a corrected version is better than having one that is known to have an error in it.  Mr. Brophy?

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  We'll go on that basis, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Did you have further questions?  Are you completed?

MR. BROPHY:  Let me check my list.  I think I may be done.  I think I'm done, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  So we'll go to panel questions.  Mr. Janigan, do you have any questions?

MR. JANIGAN:  I have no questions for this panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Ms. Frank?

MS. FRANK:  I also have no questions for this panel.
Questions by the Board:


MS. ANDERSON:  I just have one, and I think as I was listening, you're often referring to what utilities are doing and what's happening in other jurisdictions, and I know there was debate about how many different jurisdictions this might be happening in.

The question is are you hearing about regulators much like the OEB delving into this issue and looking to perhaps change their practices that would be requiring utilities to be looking more at these alternatives?

Sorry, I'm interrupting.  But I think I heard you referencing mostly utilities, and I want to hear about what regulators might be doing.

MR. SLOAN:  The state of New York and the regulators in the state of New York are very active in this area, and they have been pushing their utilities to implement -- in New York, it's non-pipeline alternatives, which is very similar to your IRPAs.  And as so, they have been driving the activity in this area.  It's been coming from the regulator not entirely, because the utilities are responding to the pipeline constraints in their jurisdictions, particularly ConEd and a grid down in New York, the New York City area where they're trying to figure out a way to continue to grow their customers and meet new customer needs in the area without the ability to build new pipeline infrastructure to the city gate, and the challenges associated with building new pipeline infrastructure within the city.

But really it's -- you could say it's a combination of the utilities and the regulator, but the regulator is a critical part of the trend in New York State.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sure, and I took lousy notes when you were talking and I didn't scroll back through transcript.  But I think you mentioned Oregon.

MR. SLOAN:  I think that Oregon and Washington are --the regulators are at least aware of the process.  BC, British Columbia, I think is aware of the process and John can comment on a couple of those areas better than I can.

So there are regulators that are thinking about it as an important area to be thinking about.

John, did you have some comments on British Columbia or the northwest?

MR. DIKEOS:  There's definitely some activity in, with BC and British Columbia as well.  I have to confess to not knowing the details off the top of my head, though.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Those were my questions and so, Mr. Stevens, is there any redirect from you?

MR. STEVENS:  There is not, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, thank you.  I hesitate to say we're finishing early.  It is ten after 4 and we've had some very long days.  So I do appreciate very much ICF for being at the hearing and we will close for today and come back with -- I believe it's Guidehouse tomorrow at 9:30.  
---  Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:11 p.m.
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